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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors of Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings Limited, | hereby present the annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2020, together with the comparative
information for the year ended 31 March 2019.

2019-20 was a year full of uncertainties in the global economy. The
market was being clouded by the Sino-US trade war, rising trade
barriers, political and economic unrest in Hong Kong, coupled with
the categorization of the novel coronavirus pneumonia epidemic as
a global pandemic, resulted in volatile market sentiment and arduous
business environment. Nevertheless, the Group enhanced its efforts in
business adjustment and transformation, and gave greater focus on
new development strategies, which allowed itself to strike a balance
between the original restaurant operations and the newly commenced
trading business with a steady growth of performance and a significant
reduction in loss as compared with the previous year.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s total revenue
increased by approximately HK$838.3 million from HK$171.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$1,009.5 million, in which
the trading business accounted for 86.8%, whereas the Vietnamese-
style restaurants business accounted for the remaining 13.2%. The
loss attributable to the Shareholders of the Company decreased
from HK$42.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$20.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The decrease in loss was
mainly because (i) the Group, while maintaining its existing businesses,
freshly expanded to the trading business field including “supply chain
management service” which achieved tremendous growth, especially
the sales of 3C electronic products, offsetting the impact of the
decrease in revenue from restaurants operation; and (i) the number of
suppliers, wholesalers and distributors relating to the trading business
maintained a stable growth and the Group was awarded more signed
contracts, which directly boosted turnover. The loss was mainly due
to (i) the underwhelming desire of people going out and spending, as
well as the shortened business hours of restaurants under the Group
and business suspension of some stores as a result of the uncertainties
brought by the social unrest in Hong Kong and the pandemic,
which significantly diminished the operating income of the restaurant
segment; (i) the fierce competition of the food and beverage industry
with a constant increase in rent and staff costs, resulting in a decline
in restaurant operation turnover; (i) the slowdown in growth of the
economies of mainland China and Hong Kong, particularly the growth
rate of mainland economy plummeted to its lowest in nearly three
decades; (iv) provision made for impairment loss on the property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets for the loss-making restaurants.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

Starting from the year of 2019, the Group has two major businesses: (i)
Vietnamese-style restaurants business; and (i) trading business.

.  VIETNAMESE-STYLE RESTAURANTS

The Group operates Vietnamese-style casual dining restaurants
chains in Hong Kong. Currently, the Group operates 15
restaurants under “Viet's Choice” (%2 ) brand, one restaurant
under “Five Spice” (5 ) brand, which is a full-menu Vietnamese-
style casual dining restaurant offering a more comprehensive
menu as compared with Viet’s Choice. The diversification of
cuisines allows the Group to obtain greater market share in Hong
Kong and hence enhance the Group’s profitability.

II.  TRADING BUSINESS

Despite the challenging business environment, the trading
business of the Group remained a strong growth momentum
against the market downturn. During the financial year, the Group
established a wholly-owned subsidiary, EEGaIRl (ZH)EFH
AR QA (“Minshang Ningbo”) in the PRC, which positioned
itself in B2B business with a focus on offering 3C electronic
products, frozen foods and grain & oil products. Minshang
Ningbo sourced from manufacturers or wholesalers located in the
PRC and sold to distributors. During the year, it has established
business relationship with more than 40 suppliers.
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In addition, the Group acquired 50% equity interest in 1t R R F
BERETESERAA (Beijing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce
Co., Ltd*) (“Minshang Zhihui”) through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, MSCT Investment Limited (R &IRI B EH R
AF]) . This transaction was completed in April 2019. Upon
completion, Minshang Zhihui was recognized as investment in
associate. Minshang Zhihui was primarily engaged in technology
and e-commerce related business with a focus on its scenario
marketing system and supply chain management capability
to provide various banks, financial institutions and sizable
corporations with e-commerce service. Minshang Zhihui mainly
developed and operated e-commerce platform for commercial
banks in the PRC, and generated profits by selling goods on
platforms developed for large-scale corporation and platforms
owned by Minshang Zhihui (i.e. Juhui Shangcheng ( 25 2 7535, )
and Minsheng Shangcheng ( R4 &) ), which has contributed
to the results of the Group since this financial year.

PROSPECTS

Since 2019, the market has been deteriorating rapidly. The novel
coronavirus pandemic in early 2020 intensified the negative impact on
the Group’s principal businesses, causing a relatively high pressure on
the Company’s source of income.

In order to cope with the ever-changing external environment and
alleviate the increasingly severe pressure on profitability, the Company
plans to deploy its own technology research and development
advantages in the future, in combination with the extensive experience
of an operating entity of Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd, the controlling shareholder of the Company in the Mainland,
in the field of inclusive finance, through the Group’s subsidiaries in
the PRC, centering the topic of “Technology Empowerment in the
Field of Inclusive Finance”, providing a comprehensive and flexible
technology solution services to financial institution. Including integrating
traffic operation management, risk management module, fund routing
distribution, and customer post-loan management, which solves the
practical issues encountered by traditional financial institutions in
the Internet era, such as online customer solicitation, immediate risk
control, capital investment and post-loan management.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the Group’s long-term
prospects. By virtue of the newly commenced business and in reliance
upon the massive domestic market, economic development of the
PRC has sufficient resilience and tremendous potential. The Group
focuses on the optimization and upgrade of financial technology
services and scenario-based services by laying a solid foundation for
development with an aim to increase its market share in the future, and
continues to explore and develop new market opportunities in a bid to
become the leading enterprise in the industry.

In a consistent manner, the Group will continue to strengthen a
series of measures such as personnel management and operation
cost control to optimize its business portfolio. The well-positioned
midstream strategic effectively will prevent adverse impact brought by
the recent situation. In the future, the Group will continue to explore
attractive investment and acquisition opportunities to improve the
profitability of the Group and shareholder’s value. Most importantly,
the management, with its insightful vision, will capture investment
opportunities, grasp the pulse of the market and lead the Group to
shine against all odds.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our
Shareholders, fellow members of the Board and staff of all levels for
their dedication and effort over the years. In addition, on behalf of the
Board, | would also like to express our most sincere thanks to all our
customers and business partners for their continuous support.

WU Jiangtao
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23 June 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year under Review”),
Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), had two principal
businesses: (i) Vietnamese-style restaurant business; and (i) trading
business. The Vietnamese-style restaurant business was operated in
Hong Kong whereas the trading business was a brand-new business
segment identified during the year and operated in Mainland China.

INDUSTRY REVIEW
I. RESTAURANT BUSINESS

The food and beverage industry is one of the industries with
the most practitioners in Hong Kong. Restaurant operators
continuously encountered numerous challenges, primarily
including the followings:

° High shop rental — In general, the rental expense in Hong
Kong is the largest part of the service cost of all catering
industry participants. According to statistics released by
the Rating and Valuation Department of Hong Kong, the
rateable value of shops and commercial units in 2019/20
increased by 1.4%, reflecting the continuous increase in
store rental during the Year under Review.

° High staff costs — Due to rising staff costs in Hong Kong
and the introduction of the statutory minimum wage in
2011 with two subsequent increases, wages rose and
restaurant operators might have to bear the incremental of
wages, resulting in rise in operating costs.

° Labour shortage — Restaurant operators generally faced
the problem of labor shortage and high turnover rate.
The shortage of high-quality customer service staff would
directly affect the service standard of the catering industry.
In addition, the low-end or common market restaurants
have higher customer flow and these restaurants are
labour-intensive in nature, which poses challenges to
restaurant operators in Hong Kong.
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Mana ement Discussion and Analysis
EEERESH

° Rising raw material prices — The operating cost of a
restaurant depends on whether its order volume achieves
economies of scale. According to the Composite
Consumer Price Index published by the Census and
Statistics Department of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, there was a year-on-year increase
of 2.9% in 2019 which reflects the overall pressure of
consumption price inflation.

° Market competition — There incalculable restaurants in
Hong Kong and consumers are paying more attention
on the consumption experience, causing difficulties for
restaurants to maintain their competitiveness. According to
the “Report on Quarterly Survey of Restaurant Receipts and
Purchases (First Quarter 2020)” published by the Census
and Statistics Department of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, the total receipts of non-Chinese
restaurants (including Vietnamese-style restaurants)
decreased by 29.0% in value and 29.9% volume. In the first
quarter of 2020, GDP dropped by 8.9% in real terms year-
on-year, compared with the decrease of 3.0% in the fourth
quarter of 2019. This was the largest decline on record
since the reference period of the first quarter of 1974. The
decline of GDP was mainly attributable to the continued
weak performance in both domestic and external demand,
as affected by the global COVID-19 pandemic. In the first
quarter of 2020, private consumption fell by 10.2% in real
terms year-on-year, greater than the decline of 2.9% in the
fourth quarter of 2019.

TRADING BUSINESS

The National Bureau of Statistics of China announced the annual
economic growth rate for 2019 to be 6.1%. Although it remained
to be above “6”, it was still the slowest growth in nearly three
decades. The National Bureau of Statistics of China announced
the annual increase of 2.9% in the consumer price index (CPI) in
China in 2019, which remained within the official target of 3%.
According to the General Administration of Customs of the PRC,
the development of foreign trade of the PRC in 2019 showed a
generally stable growth trend. However, the “novel coronavirus
pandemic” severely hammered the domestic demand in the
PRC and weakened its external demand. The trade deficit of
China would remain difficult to improve significantly until full-scale
resumption of work and production as well as an expansion of
domestic demand.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

2019/20 was a roller-coaster year. The Group turned the crisis into an
opportunity, seized opportunities to reshape the industry layout, and
established its core competitive advantage.

.  VIETNAMESE-STYLE RESTAURANT BUSINESS

The Group operates Vietnamese-style casual dining restaurants
in Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2020, the Group operated 15
restaurants under “Viet's Choice (##%) " brand and 1 full-
menu Vietnamese-style casual dining restaurant under “Five
Spice” (5##) brand. Among which, 2 were located in the Hong
Kong Island, 4 were located in Kowloon and the remaining were
located in the New Territories.

During the year under review, the Group opened 1 Viet's Choice
restaurant and closed 5 Viet's Choice restaurants and one
Tasccalopo restaurant as the Group could not reach agreements
with the landlords on reasonable commercial terms for the
renewal of lease.

Despite the difficulties faced by the food and beverage business,
profit margin and profitability remained stable by virtue of the
Group'’s effective control over labor costs and its focus on
customer experience optimisation.

Il. TRADING BUSINESS

During this Year under Review, the Group established a wholly-
owned subsidiary, REAI& (BER)ETRHBER DA
(“Minshang Ningbo”) in the PRC, which positioned itself in B2B
business with a focus on offering 3C electronic products, frozen
foods and grain & oil products. Minshang Ningbo sourced from
manufacturers or wholesalers located in the PRC and sold to
distributors. As of now, it has 40 suppliers, customers mainly
comprising local distributors of 3C electronic products, frozen
foods and grain & oil products. During the year, the proportion
of the Group’s sales of smartphones and other 3C electronic
products, frozen foods, and grain & oil products through
Minshang Ningbo were approximately 94%, 5%, and 1%,
respectively.

Management Discus§ion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEHmESH

The chart below sets forth the business model of Minshang
Ningbo:

TEHIERAIR (2R WEBEN

Customers

e

Suppliers Supply Chain
HFER it e
!—‘—\ !—‘—\
P
3C electronic
products
CEFER
Grain & oil products Minshang Ningbo
T HAEm REAR (BR)
Frozen products
RIRER
N

Distributors
D HInEF

End customers

Minshang Ningbo made its procurement and sales according
to market trends and needs, such as the newly released new
model smartphones, and sold the products to distributors
at a corresponding premium. Distributors are usually local
entities which lack an extensive supplier network. Procuring
related products through Minshang Ningbo would have certain
advantages in terms of price and form a circulation in a large
scale.

Minshang Ningbo determines the price based on product
demand and market conditions and sells the products to its
customers. The credit period for customers in this business is
generally 30 to 40 days.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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The business is led by Mr. Luo Cong (‘Mr. Luo”), the general
manager and the legal representative of Minshang Ningbo. Mr.
Luo has over 20 years of experience in the trading business in
the PRC, including fresh food products. Minshang Ningbo has
set up several sales teams which are responsible for sourcing
and distribution of products for different clients. Each sales
team is led by a sales team head with the support of several
salesmen. Members of the sales teams have on average 7 years
of experience in sales and trading business in the PRC. The in-
depth experience and professional knowledge of Mr. Luo and his
team enable our Group to have a comprehensive understanding
of the market that could satisfy the preferences and requirements
of our customers in an effective and timely manner.

() 3C electronic products

Currently, the 3C electronic products of the Group are
mainly smartphones and it has successfully increased
sales channels through the network of distributors and
wholesalers. We have cooperated with major operators
with the goal of rapidly obtaining license for many well-
known brands in an efficient fashion. During the Year under
Review, this segment achieved outstanding and remarkable
performance, with orders/sales totalling RMB737 million.

(I) Frozen foods

The Group is a sizable enterprise with an efficient industrial
chain. Its frozen foods include prepared frozen foods (such
as dumplings and glutinous rice balls), seafood, agricultural
products, and meat (including poultry, pork, beef, and
lamb). Under the trend of industry consumption upgrade,
it takes the lead to actualise the horizontal serialisation and
diversification of frozen food, and the vertical development
of deep-processed products to promote the expansion of
the food industry chain with a total sales amount of RMB
35 million.

(M) Grain & oil products

During the Year under Review, the turnover of this segment
maintained a steady growth. Grain & oil products were
mainly rice. The total sales amount was RMB 12 million.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$838.3
million, from HK$171.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
HK$1,009.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The increase
in revenue was mainly due to the increase in revenue from trading
business, offsetting the fierce competition in the catering industry,
as well as the impact of the decline in the revenue of newly replaced
restaurants compared to closed restaurants.

REVENUE OF RESTAURANTS OPERATION

The revenue of restaurants operation decreased by 22.4%, or HK$38.3
million, from HK$171.2 million for the Last Corresponding Period to
HK$132.9 million for the Year under Review. The decrease in revenue
was primarily due to () the impact of the social unrest in Hong Kong
and COVID-19 as well as local consumers’ low desire of eating out,
leading the restaurant industry to a cold winter with significant drop in
revenue; (i) the fierce competition of catering industry; and (i) decrease
in revenue from the newly replaced restaurants as compared to the
closed restaurants.

REVENUE OF TRADING BUSINESS

During the Year under Review, the Group generated a revenue
of HK$876.5 million from the new trading business in the PRC,
representing approximately 86.8% of the total revenue.

COST OF REVENUE

The cost of revenue mainly included the cost of food and beverages
and the cost of inventories sold. Cost of revenue increase by HK$861.1
million, from HK$42.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
HK$903.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. As a result, the
cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue increased from 24.5% for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to 89.5% for the year ended 31 March
2020. Such an increase was attributable to the new trading business.
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COST OF FOOD AND BEVERAGES

The Group’s cost of food and beverages decreased by 21.4%, or
HK$9.0 million, from HK$42.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to HK$33.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in revenue for the year ended
31 March 2020. As a percentage of revenue of restaurant business,
cost of food and beverage represented 24.5% and 24.8% in 2019 and
2020 respectively.

COST OF INVENTORIES SOLD

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group incurred cost of
inventories sold approximately HK$870.2 million from the new trading
business in the PRC. The cost of inventories as a percentage of trading
revenue was 99.3% for the Year under Review.

STAFF COSTS

The Group's staff costs decreased by 15.6%, or HK$9.1 million, from
HK$58.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$49.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such decrease was primarily due to
the enhancement of human resource management in response to the
increase in revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PROPERTY RENTALS AND RELATED EXPENSES

The Group’s property rentals and related expenses decreased by
83.6%, or HK$53.7 million, from HK$64.2 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 to HK$10.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the initial adoption of HKFRS
16 during the year ended 31 March 2020 and only lease payments
associated with short-term leases were recognised on straight-line
basis as in property rentals and related expenses in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2020.
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The adoption of HKFRS 16 resulted in a significant decrease in
operating lease payments and a related significant increase in
depreciation expenses from the right-of-use assets and interest
expenses from lease liabilities.

HREABT BB HREELF165 SBEEH
ENFAERD RAEERREENEERLE
EREMEFHEHEBAREN-

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Depreciation charge of right-of-use asset FREEECITEERA 33,179 =
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBGEMNERX 1,332 =
Operating lease payment LERENR 10,484 64,240
44,995 64,240

SHARE STRUCTURE

On 24 April 2019, the Company issued 58,918,182 ordinary shares of
HK$0.0025 each at a price of HK$1.1 per share pursuant to the sale
and purchase agreement dated 31 December 2018 (as supplemented
and amended by a supplemental sale and purchase agreement dated
20 March 2019). As a result, the Company’s issued share capital as at
31 March 2020 was HK$2,147,295 divided into 858,918,182 ordinary
shares of the Company with par value of HK$0.0025 each.
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LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company decreased by
51.3%, or HK$22 million, from HK$42.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2019 to HK$20.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Such decrease was mainly due to the combined net effect of () the
profits generated from the new trading business during year ended
31 March 2020, (i) no legal and professional expenses for share
subdivision incurred during the year, and (i) other factors discussed
above.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
HK$28.5 million, representing a decrease of 40.9%, or HK$19.7
million, as compared with HK$48.2 million as at 31 March 2019. Such
decrease was mainly due to the increase in financial assets and capital
expenditure. Most bank deposits and cash were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars.

The issued shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 November 2016 (the “Listing Date” and the
“Listing”, respectively). The Group will continue to use the internal
generated cash flows and proceeds received from the Listing as a
source of funding for future developments.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were HK$106.2 million (2019: HK$97.3 million) and HK$83.4
million (2019: HK$29.0 million) respectively, while the current ratio was
about 1.3 times (2019: 3.4 times).
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In September 2019, R AR} (2K ) E-F 75 G R A 7], a subsidiary
of the Company has entered into a loan facility with the Shanghai
Pudong Development Bank in the PRC, the total available amount
under the facility is RMB10,000,000 of which RMB9,980,000 were
drawn down as at 31 March 2020 with an interest rate of 5.87% per
annum for a term of one year. As at 31 March 2020, the carrying
amounts of the loan of RMB9,980,000 approximate its fair value, and
are denominated in RMB. The loan is conducted on normal commercial
term and is not secured by the assets of Group but guaranteed by the
Group’s ultimate holding company, Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings
(Shenzhen) Ltd.

Other borrowing of RMB11,200,000 was provided by 1t 7 R EFI =
Bl BB AT, a felow subsidiary of the Company. The borrowing is
unsecured, bearing an interest rate of 8% per annum for a term of one
year and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group was 17.1% (31
March 2019: Nil), which was calculated based on total borrowing
including bank and other borrowings, divided by equity attributable
to shareholders of the Company. The net debt to equity ratio which
was defined as total borrowing including bank and other borrowings
net of cash and cash equivalents divided by equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company, was at net cash position as at 31 March
2020 (2019: same).
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date
with net proceeds from the global offering of the Shares of HK$70.9
million. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company “Change
in Use of Proceeds from Listing” published on 19 September 2019,
having carefully considered the current business environment and
development needs of the Group, the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) has resolved to change the proposed use of
part of the Unutilized Net Proceeds in the amount of HK$20 million
originally allocated for broadening cuisine offerings, to (i) investing in
new businesses on supply trading on food and other consumer goods;
and (i) general working capital and general purposes.

The use of the net proceeds from the Listing as at 31 March 2020 was
approximately as follows:
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Amount Amount
utilised utilised
Original before after Amount
allocation reallocation  Reallocation reallocation remaining
ENAEA ENoEE
Use of net proceeds FEREFERE BEAE EHALHE BEFOE BHALE #$TEE
(in HK$ million)  (in HKS million) (i HK$ million) ~ (in HK$ milion) ~ (in HK$ million)
(BE¥ET) (BEZT) (BE#T) (BEET) (BE#T)
Maintain and expand Viet's Choice KRR ERBEREEE
Brand restaurants 16.5 (16.1) - - 04
Broaden cuisine offerings REREHNES 436 6.6) (20) = 17.0
Upgrade and expand food processing centre ABRERREMIFA L 2.3 0.1) - = 2.2
Upgrade information technology systems HREABEZESR 19 (1.4) - = 05
Broaden the promotion of brand image and RARBERRAEE
recognition 1.1 (1.1 - - -
Working capital and general corporate purpose HEEeR—MOEERRE 5.5 (5.5) 10 () 5
Investment in supply chain business REMEEER - - 10 (10) =
Total it 70.9 (308) - (15) 25.1

The net proceeds used and the unutilised proceeds were/will be
utilised according to the proposed application as specified in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 17 November 2016 (“Prospectus”) and the
Company’s announcement dated 19 September 2019.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

0

Major Acquisition

On 31 December 2018, MSCT Investment Limited ( R 78I £H&
EHBRAR]) (the “Purchaser”’) being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA”) with RAETEIER CRYI) AR A A
(Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd) (the
“Vendor”).

Pursuant to the SPA, the Vendor shall sell and the Purchaser
shall purchase the entire issued share capital (the “Sale Share”)
and a shareholder’s loan (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) of MSEC
Investment Limited (the “Target Company”).

The Target Company is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability. It directly owns the entire issued
capital of MSEC Investment (HK) Limited (“MSEC HK”) which
in turn owns 50% interests in It RERAEBETFEHEBRA
A] (Beijing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce Co., Ltd*) (‘“Minshang
Zhihui”). Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology
and e-commerce related business in the PRC focusing on
providing e-commerce services to financial institutions and its
other customers in the PRC.

The conditions precedent to completion of the SPA have been
fulfilled and completion took place on 24 April 2019 on which the
Sale Share and the Shareholder’s Loan have been transferred
or assigned to the Purchaser in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the SPA.
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The Company has allotted and issued 58,918,182 consideration
shares to the Vendor at the issue price of HK$1.1 per
consideration share pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the SPA. The 58,918,182 consideration shares represent
approximately 7.36% of the issued share capital of the Company
prior to the issue of the consideration shares and approximately
6.86% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the consideration shares.

Following completion of the SPA, the Company indirectly owns
the entire issued share capital of the Target Company, which
in turn holds 50% equity interests in Minshang Zhihui through
MSEC HK. As such, the Target Company and MSEC HK will
become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and the
financial results of the Target Company and MSEC HK will be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Company, while
Minshang Zhihui will only be accounted for as an associate of
the Company following completion. Accordingly, the financial
results of Minshang Zhihui will not be consolidated to the Group’s
accounts.

For more details about the Placing and the SPA, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 25 March 2019.

Lapse of Placing Agreement

On 6 November 2018, the Company and CCB International
Capital Limited as placing agent (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Placing Agent conditionally agreed to procure not
less than six placees on a best effort basis to subscribe for
up to a maximum of 56,607,666 placing shares (the “Placing
Shares”) at the placing price of HK$1.1 per placing share (the
“Placing”). An ordinary resolution was passed at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 11 April 2019 to approve,
confirm and ratify the Placing Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including but not limited to the
allotment and issue of the Placing Shares under the specific
mandate.
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The gross proceeds from the Placing after completion are
estimated to be approximately HK$62.3 million and the net
proceeds from the Placing (after deducting all commissions and
other expenses) are estimated to be approximately HK$58.7
million.

The Company intends to use (i) 38.3% of the net proceeds from
the Placing for funding a shareholder’s loan; (i) 51.7% of the net
proceeds from the Placing for potential acquisition; and (i) 10%
of the net proceeds from the Placing for general working capital.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31
December 2019, the Placing Agent informed the Company
that it was unable to secure not less than six placees on a best
effort basis during the placing period, and the Company would
therefore not proceed with the Placing. The Board is of the view
that the lapse of the Placing has no material adverse impact on
the operation and financial position of the Group.

* for identification purpose only

Save for the subsidiaries of the Company and the major acquisition
mentioned, there was no other significant investments acquired, nor
was there any other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries
during the Year under Review. During the Year under Review, the
Board has not yet authorised any plan for other material investments or
additions of capital assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 6 April 2020, the Company and China Tonghai International
Financial Limited (the “Issuer”, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 952)) entered into
the subscription agreement in relation to the subscription of bonds
by the Company (the “Subscription”) in the principal amount of
HK$13,000,000 (the “8.25% Bonds”) issued by the Issuer bearing
interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including the
issue date at the rate of 8.25% per annum, payable on the maturity
date. The Subscription was completed on 6 April 2020.
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On 12 June 2020, the Company entered into the amended and
reinstated agreement with the issuer to amend and reinstate the
subscription agreement dated 13 March 2020, pursuant to which
the Company and the Issuer agreed to, among others, extend the
maturity date of the 7.5% notes from 12 June 2020 to 11 September
2020 (subject to further extension to 11 December 2020 pursuant to
the terms of such subscription agreement) and adjust the interest rate
payable by the Issuer to the Company for the extended term of the
notes to 8.25% per annum.

Save for disclosed above, no significant events occurred since the end
of the Year under Review and up to the date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 183 employees (2019: 285
employees). Remuneration is determined by reference to prevailing
market terms and in accordance with the performance, qualification
and experience of each individual employee. The Group also
encouraged employees to enhance their overall career development
and knowledge and skills through continuous education and training
courses, so as to realize their personal potential.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company, with reference to their
respective contribution of time, effort and expertise on the Company’s
matters. The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 8 November 2016 to reward the
participants defined thereunder for their contribution to the Group’s
success and to provide them with incentives to further contribute to
the Group. The Share Option Scheme has become effective on 29
November 2016. In addition, employees are entitled to performance
and discretionary year-end bonuses.

No share option was granted during the Year Under Review. As at 31
March 2020, the Company had no outstanding share option under the
Share Option Scheme.

Management Discus§ion and Analysis
BEERWEDH

720206 8128 + AN A RIEAEE AT AFT LR &
BHEAMEE] R ES B B /A2020F3 A 13H MR
Bz Bt ARREBETARE (KR aE)
157 5%2 1 E| HA B 51202046 A 12 H & & £2020
FIOANB (RZRERENERAIE—FTERE
2020512A118) - WHARBEIT AR ZEEBELERH
FER T AR B2 FF|EE8.25% ©

BREXFEEEN BEEBEFEREEEARE
I EELEEREANEIER

18 & K # B B R

202053 HA31H - A& E ¥ 51834 (B B (2019
F:285%EE) - HMNELERITHIGBKIAL
BESEENEARE BEENERET -AKE
thEEE TAAREEECNIEIIRE BABEA
HEENZEMERMMBRE BEEAEGRE-

EECMeNE2ERESAHARRNEEMER
AR - BINBEERBERAARGTMEZES 2 #
BERET AQARIEMN2016F11 A8HERHN—18
RS ([RS8 ) LREHIE AT
B2 B E E AN B A BLIE L A B B A MORBY B &
BERAEBEL AR - BREEEMN20165F
11H29R AR - I EEBREZBRENMIESF
BRAEAT

A Bl B F S B4R R BE AR - 202043 A 31
B ANARWERBEERETS MARITHEZER
T o

RERIRIERBAR QA
20204 F 3}

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis

B8 B At A B o A

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any mortgage or charge
over its assets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Company’s long-term goal is to create a diversified and integrated
group with food and beverage as the core supplemented by high-
efficiency industrial chain and scale business. While continuously
striving to expand its core business, the Company also continuously
explored the possibility of e-commerce business of other consumer
products with a determination to establish a diversified and integrated
e-commerce platform.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

For the restaurant operation, most of the transactions of the Group
are denominated in Hong Kong dollar. For the trading business, the
Group’s sales and purchases were mainly denominated in RMB.
The Group was exposed to foreign exchange risk based on the
fluctuations between HKD and RMB arising from the trading business
in the PRC. The Group does not employ any financial instruments for
hedging purposes. While the Board currently does not expect currency
fluctuations to materially impact the Group’s operations, the Board will
review the foreign exchange exposure of the Group from time to time
as appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

PROSPECTS

The Company’s strategic goal is to become a diversified and integrated
group comprising top-notch full-service casual chain restaurants in
Hong Kong supplemented by high-efficiency industrial chain and scale
business. In the foreseeable future, we remain confident in the business
prospects of the Group.
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Viethamese-style restaurant business

In view of the uncertainties in the Hong Kong economy, the
Group’s business will encounter various challenges in the
foreseeable future. The major risks and uncertainties of the Group
are summarized as follows:

° Due to the subsequent impact of the social unrest in Hong
Kong since mid-2019 and the recent novel coronavirus
pandemic, it is expected that the rental pressure may ease
slightly. However, the Group may not be able to obtain a
lease at ideal location for the new restaurants or renew the
existing lease on commercially acceptable terms, and the
above potential risks may have a significant adverse impact
on the Group’s business and future development;

° The operation of the Group may be affected by the price
of food ingredients, including the price of imported food
ingredients affected by exchange rate fluctuations;

Nevertheless, by leveraging on the years of experience of its
management team in managing the catering business in Hong
Kong, the Group will continue to implement the following
strategies:

° maintaining the Group’s market share and continuing
to expand its network of Vietnamese-style casual
dining restaurants in Hong Kong by the replacement of
restaurants which the Group has plan to close, opening of
new Vietnamese-style casual dining restaurants as well as
further refurbishment of existing restaurants;

° leveraging on the Group’s standardised operations
and management and broadening the Group’s cuisine
offerings to capture a larger market share in Hong Kong
by developing different lines of casual dining restaurants,
including full-menu Vietnamese-style restaurants, French-
Vietnamese-style restaurants and international cuisines
restaurants;
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEERWESW

° upgrading and expanding the food processing capabilities
of the Group’s food processing centre;

° upgrading the information technology systems to support
the Group’s future expansion and growth; and

° broadening the promotion of the Group’s brand image and
market recognition.

Trading Business

Looking ahead, the Group firmly believes that the development
potential of the trading business is huge, especially for 3C
electronic products. It is now actively diversifying the market
layout, targeting the domestic market in China, focusing on
operation improvement and brand building, shifting from price
competition to branding competition, and preparing to launch a
new business model combining ODM and supply chain, in order
to provide products for new customer groups while reducing
procurement risks and achieving growth against the trend. In the
future, it will continue to expand the business of other 3C digital
products. Minshang Ningbo will work together with various major
operators, in a bid to acquire more brand licenses. Driven by
favourable policies and market demand, the global 3C products
industry is developing rapidly, the proportion of online sales of
3C products continues to expand along with the continuous
consumption upgrade. As the 5G era approaches and devices
integrate into consumers’ lives, smartphone shipments in the
PRC will inevitably come to the forefront of the world, creating
immense business opportunities for the Group.

Our management team has a long-term vision and a marvellous
pool of talents. Through continuous exploration, the Group
believes that challenges will bring opportunities and it strives
to achieve brilliant results by riding on the wind and waves and
forging ahead towards the goal of becoming the mainstay of the
industry, in a bid to generate higher profits for the Group and
greater value for Shareholders and create a grand chapter for the
era.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. WU JIANGTAO

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”), aged 44, is the Chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since 6 July 2018. Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in monetary
and banking from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in
July 1998, a master’s degree of economics from Chinese Academy
of Social Science in July 2007 and a Ph.D degree in finance from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in December 2012. Mr.
Wu was the chairman of the board of directors and chief executive
officer of Minsheng E-Commerce CO., Ltd (RA S FEEBERET A
7) (“Minsheng E-Commerce”) from December 2013 to April 2015.
Mr. Wu has been the chairman of the board of directors of Minsheng
E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd since April 2015 until now.
Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce, Mr. Wu served as the branch
manager of China Minsheng Bank Wuhan Branch from November
2011 to December 2013.

Mr. Wu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”). Mr. Wu will receive a director's remuneration of
HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the
prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEBEE

MR. LU SHENG HONG

Mr. LU Sheng Hong (“Mr. Lu”), aged 50, is an executive Director of
the Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Lu obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in finance from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in July
1992 and a bachelor’'s degree in economics from Wuhan University
in June 1998. Mr. Lu joined Minsheng E-Commerce CO., Ltd as vice
president from April 2014 to April 2015. Mr. Lu has been the vice
president and the chief executive officer of Minsheng E-Commerce
Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd since April 2015, who is responsible for the
day to day operation and management of Minsheng E-Commerce
Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd. Prior to joining Minsheng E-Commerce CO.,
Ltd, Mr. Lu was the vice branch manager of China Minsheng Bank
Wuhan Branch from September 2003 to April 2014 and an assistant
to the general manager of China Merchants Bank Wuhan Branch from
November 2002 to September 2003. He was an officer and a section
officer of China Construction Bank Hubei Branch from August 1992 to
July 2001.

Mr. Lu has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Lu will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

MS. LI JIA

Ms. LI Jia (“Ms. Li"), aged 35, is an executive Director of the Company
since 6 July 2018. Ms. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in management
from Jiangxi Finance University in July 2006 and master of business
administration from New York Institute of Technology in May 2012. Ms.
Li was the vice general manager of finance department of Minsheng
E-Commerce Co., Ltd from March 2014 to April 2015. Ms. Li has
been the general manager of Hong Kong business of Minsheng
E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd since April 2015 until now. Prior
to joining Minsheng E-Commerce Co., Ltd, Ms. Li was the assistant to
general manager of finance department from November 2009 to March
2010, the vice general manager of the finance department from March
2010 to February 2011 and the finance general manager of China
Minsheng Bank Nanchang Branch from February 2011 to March 2014.
She was the client manager of SPD Bank Nanchang Branch from July
2006 to September 2008.

Ms. Li has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles. Ms. Li will receive a director’s
remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined with
reference to her duties and responsibilities with the Company, her
experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEBEE

MR. TAO JINGYUAN

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (“Mr. Tao”), aged 35, is an executive Director of
the Company since 6 March 2020. Mr. Tao received his bachelor’s
degree in Engineering Mechanics at Tsinghua University in July 2007
and his master’s degree in Finance at the University of Hong Kong
in June 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tao had worked as
senior manager of corporate business department of Harvest Fund
Management Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2010; vice president of
Asia Pacific region business department of Harvest Global Investments
from August 2010 to May 2012; General Manager of private banking
department of China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd Wuhan Branch
from May 2012 to July 2015. After that, Mr. Tao joined Minsheng
E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Ltd (“Minsheng E-Commerce”) in
September 2015 and has been serving as vice president of Minsheng
E-Commerce & General Manager of Finance Division.

Mr. Tao has entered into a service agreement with the Company as
an executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Tao will receive a
director’s remuneration of HK$10,000 monthly which was determined
with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, his
experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MR. WONG STACEY MARTIN

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 53, is the non-executive
Director of the Company since 6 July 2018. He joined China Tonghai
International Financial in November 2017 and is the chief operating
and risk officer of China Tonghai International Financial Limited. Mr.
Wong has over 28 years of experience in the investment banking
industry and has extensive experience in fund raising transactions of
Hong Kong and Chinese companies and has participated in various
kinds of transactions of Blue-chips, Red-chips, private enterprises and
H-shares and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Wong is an independent
non-executive director of OCI International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 329.hk). Prior to joining China Tonghai International Financial
Limited, Mr. Wong had been the chief operating officer and a director of
CMBC International Holdings Limited (a subsidiary of China Minsheng
Banking Corp., Ltd) since February 2015. Mr. Wong was the head of
investment banking of Piper Jaffray Asia Limited and also headed Bear
Stearns Asia Limited’s corporate finance team, worked as the Head of
BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited’s infrastructure and public utility
corporate finance team and spent ten years with Peregrine Capital
Limited. Mr. Wong received his master’'s degree from the University of
Cambridge, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
as a non-executive Director for a term of one year subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Wong will not receive
any remuneration but may be adjusted as the remuneration committee
of the Board thinks fit.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEBEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. KO PO MING

Mr. KO Po Ming (“Mr. Ko”), aged 61, is an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the remuneration committee of the
Company since 6 July 2018. He has over 35 years of extensive
experience in finance and investment banking business. Mr. Ko was
appointed as the joint chairman of the board, an executive director and
the chief executive officer of Mason Group Holdings Limited (‘“MGHL”)
(stock code: 273.hk) on 8 September 2016. He was re-designated
as the chairman of the board and appointed as the chairman of
nomination committee of MGHL on 2 January 2018 and resigned from
his roles on 13 January 2020. During his office with MGHL, Mr. Ko
was mainly responsible for the formulation of development strategies
of MGHL, as well as giving guidance to MGHL’s project planning,
financing and investment. Prior to joining MGHL, Mr. Ko was the chief
executive officer of CMBC International Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the China Minsheng Banking Corp. Ltd.

From October 2012 to March 2015, Mr. Ko was a consultant of
China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch and was
responsible for the setting up of CMBC International Holdings Limited.
Prior to cofounding Goldbond Capital Holdings Limited (“GCHL”) in
2003, he was the head of Asian corporate finance of BNP Paribas
Peregrine Capital Limited where he was in charge of the corporate
finance business in Asia. GCHL was acquired by Piper Jaffray
Companies (NYSE: PJC) in 2007 and its name was changed to Piper
Jaffray Asia Holdings Limited (“PJA”). Since then and until September
2012, Mr. Ko served as the chief executive officer of PJA. Mr. Ko
graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1982 with a
bachelor’s degree in business administration.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ko acted as independent non-executive directors of a number of
Hong Kong and Mainland China listed companies, including (i) Nanjing
Panda Electronics Company Limited (stock code: 553.hk) between
1996 and 1999; (i) Dazhong Transport (Group) Company Limited
(SHA: 600611) between 1997 and 2003; (i) Chinese Energy Holdings
Limited (formerly known as iMerchants Limited (stock code: 8009.
hk)) between 2000 and 2004 and (iv) Tianjin Capital Environmental
Protection Group Company Limited (stock code: 1065.hk) between
2003 and 2009. He acted as non-executive director of Petro-king
Qilfield Services Ltd. (stock code: 2178.hk) between 2013 and 2018.
Mr. Ko was a Listing Committee member of the Main Board and GEM
of the Stock Exchange between May 2003 and June 2009. Mr. Ko is
an independent non-executive director of Globe Metals and Mining
Limited (ASX: GBE). He is also a trustee of St. Johnsbury Academy,
an independent day and boarding secondary school. St. Johnsbury
Academy is a non-profit corporation under section 501(c)(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code in the United States of America.

Mr. Ko has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Ko will
receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EERGREEBEE

MR. CHOI TZE KIT SAMMY

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit Sammy (“Mr. Choi”), aged 57, is an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company since 6 July 2018. Mr. Choi has over 30 years of experience
in finance and auditing. Mr. Choi has been an independent non-
executive director of Prinx Chengshan (Cayman) Holding Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1809.hk) since 10 September 2018. From October 2016 to
August 2017, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive director of
Ernest Borel Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1856.hk). From January
2007 to November 2015, Mr. Choi was an independent non-executive
director of Fufeng Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 546.hk) and from February
2016 to February 2017, he was an independent non-executive director
of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2078.hk).

Mr. Choi graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently
known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1985. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales (“ICAEW”), a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), a fellow Certified Public Accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”),
a fellow member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Choi is now a committee member of Small and Medium
Practitioners Committee, Professional Conduct Committee, and a
member of Investigation Panel of the HKICPA. He has been a council
member of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Merchants Mutual Assistance
Society Limited since October 2013. He was a council member of
The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors from 2010 to 2015.
He has been elected as an honorary financial advisor of Hong Kong
and Kowloon Rattan Ware Merchants Association (Wing Hing Tong) in
2018.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Choi has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company as
an independent non-executive Director for a term of one year subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Choi will
receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000 annually which was
determined with reference to his duties and responsibilities with the
Company, his experience and the prevailing market conditions.

MR. CHEUNG MIU

Mr. CHEUNG Miu (‘Mr. M. Cheung”), aged 50, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 July 2018, obtained
a bachelor's degree in business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 1992 and a master’'s degree
in business administration from The University of New South Wales
in May 1998. Mr. M. Cheung has years of experiences in the finance
industry. He joined CITIC Capital Holding Limited in 1999 and is
currently a senior managing director and head of structured investment
and finance of CITIC Capital Holdings Limited. He has been appointed
as a director of China National Investment & Guaranty Corporation,
shares of which are listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations, since 25 April 2017. He was employed by Commonwealth
Bank of Australia from January 1998 to May 1999 and his last position
with the bank was as executive in the corporate finance department.
He was the assistant manager of the investment banking department
of Societe Generale Asia Limited from January 1995 to February 1996.

Mr. M. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. M. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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MR. CHEUNG PAK TO PATRICK

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To Patrick (‘Mr. P.T. Cheung”), BBS, aged 71,
is an independent non-executive Director of the Company since 6
July 2018. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Amasse Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 8168.hk) and also
an independent non-executive director of Greenheart Group Limited
(stock code: 94.hk). He was an independent non-executive director
of National Agricultural Holdings Limited (stock code: 1236.hk) from 1
January 2017 to 8 November 2019. Mr. P.T. Cheung holds a master’s
degree in public administration from the University of Hong Kong of
which he was accorded as a distinguished alumnus in 2007. Mr. P.T.
Cheung has extensive management and administrative experiences.
From 1969, Mr. PT. Cheung had served with the United Kingdom
Government, British Forces in Hong Kong for 21 years, with his
final post as a Civilian Executive Officer. Thereafter from 1989, he
was employed by the Securities and Futures Commission Hong
Kong for 20 years, with his final position as Senior Manager of the
Finance & Administration Department. On the social and community
responsibilities front, Mr. P.T. Cheung was a devoted volunteer officer
in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service for 30 years during which he was
appointed as honorary Aide-de-Camp to the former Governors Lord
Wilson and Mr. Christopher Patten; and Mr. Tung Chee-hwa, the former
Chief Executive of Hong Kong Government, for 10 consecutive years
from 1990 to 1999. Mr. P.T. Cheung achieved the rank of Assistant
Commissioner in the Hong Kong Civil Aid Service and was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2003. Mr
Cheung has been the chairman of United Services Recreation Club
Limited since June 2015.

Mr. PT. Cheung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director for a term of one
year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
Mr. Cheung will receive a director’s remuneration of HK$360,000
annually which was determined with reference to his duties and
responsibilities with the Company, his experience and the prevailing
market conditions.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its
Shareholders and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value
through good corporate governance.

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of
good corporate governance in the management structures, internal
control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability.

The Company has adopted and, save for the deviation from code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) as disclosed in this annual report, has complied with all
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Mr. WU Jiangtao (“Mr. Wu”) is the Chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Taking into
account the consistent leadership within the Group and in order to
enable more effective and efficient overall strategic planning and
continuation of the implementation of such plans, all the other Directors
(including the INEDs) consider that Mr. Wu is the best candidate for
both positions and the present arrangements are beneficial to and in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing
the securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry
made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures
that the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for
the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the
Board include but are not limited to formulating the Group’s business
plans and strategies, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, developing, monitoring
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance practices and all
other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles. The Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. The Board may from time to time delegate certain
functions to management of the Group if and when considered
appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the execution
of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board
and assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and are
entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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COMPOSITION OF BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following
nine Directors, four of whom are executive Directors, one is non-
executive Director and the other four are INEDs. Details of their
composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WU Jiangtao

Mr. LU Sheng Hong

Ms. LI Jia

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (appointed on 6 March 2020)

Non-executive Director
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. KO Po Ming

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy

Mr. CHEUNG Miu

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial
expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on
various Board committees, all INEDs will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.
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Throughout the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company had four
INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board members, which
has exceeded the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number
of INEDs must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and also met the requirement that at least one of the INEDs has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers that all
the INEDs are independent and have met the independence guidelines
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Chairman holds at least one meeting with the non-executive
Directors (including the INEDs) without the presence of the other
executive Director annually.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the
Directors has been arranged by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, other legal and regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

The Company will provide briefings to all Directors from time to time to
develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. All Directors are
also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with
their training records.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance and position
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. All Directors were encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to enhance and refresh their knowledge and
skills.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020 is
as follows:

Name of Directors

EEpS
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REE2020F3A31 R ILFE - RIFEERHENRE
o BEMEXNEIIBRMT

Continuous
professional
development
programs

BFREXZRTE

Mr. WU Jiangtao =T /&5 &
Mr. LU Sheng Hong & BS AT 5t 4
Ms. LI Jia =ELZ L

Mr. TAO Jingyuan (appointed on 6 March 2020) ¥ &% & 5t 4 (102020463 H6 H#EZ (F)

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin & {2 5, /¢ £
Mr. KO Po Ming i Z B3 5 4

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy #5744
Mr. CHEUNG Miu 5= 8 % 4

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick 3% 1458 5t 4

Resigned on 30 April 2019
201954 A30H & 1E
Mr. WAT Tat Fei JE 2 R 5t £

The nature of continuous professional development programs includes
attending seminars/conferences/forums or reading newspapers,
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business,
corporate governance, Listing Rules and other laws and regulation
amendments and directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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LIABILITY INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS

The Company has purchased insurances for all Directors to
minimize risks that may be incurred in their normal performance of
responsibilities.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at
least 14 days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given
in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include
any matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on
issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to make informed
decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers are sent
to all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the
regular Board meeting, or such other period as agreed for other Board
meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board convened a total
of five meetings in person or by means of electronic communication.
The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and general
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 March 2020
is as follows:
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REE2020F3A31BIEFE EFSURFXE
FEAAR —HBABAAEEH SESREZE
20203 ABIBIEFERIT I ARNAIEEE 2R
EBRERE 2 HELskmT :

No. of
Attendance/
No. of Meeting
HERY,/
Name of Directors BEEpZ 22Ny
Annual Extraordinary
General General Board
Meeting Meeting Meeting
RRBERE RERBIAE gz
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. WU Jiangtao RIIBRE 11 11 4/5
Mr. LU Sheng Hong BBALE 0/ 11 5/5
Ms. LI Jia FEZL 11 11 5/5
Mr. TAO Jingyuan (appointed on 6 March 2020) MR R4 (R2020F3F6HEZ F) 0/ 0/ 1/5
Mr. WAT Tat Fei (resigned on 30 April 2019) JBIERILE (R2019%4 A30H 5HE) 0/ 0/ 0/5
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin BENLE 11 0/ 4/5
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. KO Po Ming SERLE 11 0/1 5/5
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BFHEEE il 01 5/5
Mr. CHEUNG Miu RYLE 0/1 01 5/5
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick ®IEE % E 0/ 0/ 5/5
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EEFLLILBR

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in November 2018 setting out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge and length of service.
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At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

The terms of reference of the Board Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHOI Tze Kit,
Sammy, Mr. KO Po Ming and Mr. CHEUNG Miu. The Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy who possesses relevant
professional qualification and expertise in financial reporting matters.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and annual results for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions,
and sufficient disclosures have already been made.
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The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but
are not limited to:

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and handling any questions regarding its resignation or
dismissal;

o reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and discussing with the
external auditors on the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

° developing and implementing a policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

° monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, and half-year report, as well as
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;

° reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and risk management
and internal control systems;

o discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with the management to ensure that the management has
performed its duty to have such effective systems;

° considering major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;
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where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, ensuring that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness;

reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditors to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

considering other topics as defined by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee convened

two committee meetings. The attendance of each INED at the Audit

Committee meetings is as follows:

o GERBAMBZBENBRT  HERAIE
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o RAAKENMBERETBELE:

o REIINEPAZELED A TEIRIE AU K - A AN

PR MERE KEERAEMmAIE R
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FE

o BEREFSHEFLIENINIZBENGTE
BENKFPRENER: K

e

e MREMBEETSARENRE-
HE2020F3A31HILFE EZEESEH
LEeRHR - SBUINTEENEZRLZES

&2 HFREER T

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

HERE,
Name of Directors BEENE EE P
Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy BT A 2/2
Mr. CHEUNG Miu 9w & 2/2
Mr. KO Po Ming SERLEE 2/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. KO Po Ming and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one executive Director,
namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. KO Po Ming is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to:

o making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy;

° reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

o making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the non-executive Directors;

° considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management of the Company for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it
is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

o reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating
to the dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with the contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

o ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee
convened one committee meeting. The attendance of each Director
in the capacity of a member of the Remuneration Committee at its
meeting is as follows:
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REZE2020F3A31B IEFE  HFEE @ B8
—REESER -SEEUTFNEESREFH
HEESH 2SI T

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Name of Directors EENR HERE EFRE
Mr. KO Po Ming SERLE 11
Mr. CHEUNG Miu wOW & 11
Mr. WU Jiangtao STENAE 11

The Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the Board
on the terms of the service agreement for the appointment of the new
executive Director, Mr. TAO Jingyuan, appointed during the year.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members, including two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick and Mr. CHEUNG Miu, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. WU Jiangtao. Mr. WU Jiangtao, who is
also the Chairman of the Board, and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include
but are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of the INEDs; and

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the
Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the chief executives of
the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee
convened one committee meeting. The attendance of each Director in
the capacity of a member of the Nomination Committee at its meeting
is as follows:

REZ2020F3A31B It FE IRBRE B2 B8
—RERECCH REEUIRLZTEEXESH

HEESHE RN T

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

HERE
Name of Directors BEENR B PN
Mr. WU Jiangtao RIIBEAE 11
Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick SR1AME A& 1/1
Mr. CHEUNG Miu FOB A 1/1

The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted
by the Company in November 2018. Pursuant to the Nomination
Policy, in evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee would consider the following criteria, including,
among other things, character and integrity, qualifications (cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy),
any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and diversity,
and willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s).

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt
of the proposal on appointment of new director and the biographical
information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship with a ranking of the candidates (if
applicable) by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors, which includes but is not
limited to:

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

° reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this report.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a year subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a year subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Articles.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles. At each
annual general meeting of the Company (‘“AGM”), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he/she retires. The Directors
to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the
number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to
retire and does not offer himself/herself for re-election. Any further
Directors so to retire shall be those who have been the longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
the persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2020 are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, PricewaterhouseCoopers was
engaged as the Group’s independent auditor.

The remuneration paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the
year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

Corporate Governancg Report
TtEERRE

¥8) 7 A% SR Fr B
HZE2020F3A31HILFE  BEF KESHAIS
5 P FE B /5 7K 52 [ 1) Y8 3T X AT o

# 20203 A31A L FEEN BN B R K
EETAEBAMAF BT :

Fee paid/payable

B ERER

HK$’000

FHET

Audit services Z RS 2,450
Non-audit services (including major transaction and FZERG (BEEEZHR

tax compliance services) B & RIRS) 282

Total HEt 2,732

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers has stated in the independent
auditor’s report its reporting responsibilities on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on an
annual basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfiling its
oversight and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, while management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems
and internal controls can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has conducted an
annual review on the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems in relation to the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and the results were summarised
and discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. The Directors through the Audit
Committee are kept informed of significant risks that may impact on the
Group’s performance.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group to be effective
and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

2\ B 3 K% A B
EEeNTHEEAKENEREIE & A EBZEF
ERONEE UREBRERZECELBFR
BRARZIKR BREZBEWMPESTSHETE
EXERARAKREYS & AR RAkRERE
kAmMERz XA MEREERT BITRE
BRREELASBEFRS IRAEEFSREZ
REERZFHIE 2 BB E R - AT - 3%l
J& R B 122 ) 12 B 50 & 2218 FE UK Hh B R 38F % 1
BEREREAKEE  RESE TR AEE
EMIFERERAEEXE B R ZRRER -

RBZE2020F3 A1 A IEFE AEBEBASHE
BV CERGREZEZERERRAIBIE
FIERZ R R AEERFERN TREEH
ERREBEZEZEEEREETSETIR -BRE
BEeRESEREASERREIE AT H
2 PR R o

EVZEeMPETERFEEERFAKER
REERABEHRRZRR - EERELZE
CEMAETEARERR CERAR -

REZE2020F3A31BIEFE  EFERAAEE
ZEBREBRADEHEGBERARITED - Fix
ZECEENTEMERTCE BITERRE
BARANEEBS T RIS 2 AR -



The Group maintained effective risk management and internal control in
all material respects, and the Board of Directors was not aware of any
significant or material defects in relation to the risk management and
internal control. The Board of Directors has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and considered them effective and adequate.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Group has adopted a risk management policy, the main objectives
of which is to ensure sustainable business growth with stability and to
promote a pro-active approach in reporting, evaluating and resolving
risks associated with the business. In order to guide decisions on risk
related issues.

The specific objectives of the policy are:

1. to ensure that all the current and future material risk exposures
of the Group are identified, assessed, quantified, appropriately
mitigated, minimized and managed i.e. to ensure adequate

systems for risk management.

2. to establish a framework for the Group’s risk management
process and to ensure its implementation.

eF to enable compliance with appropriate regulations, wherever
applicable, through the adoption of best practices.

4. to assure business growth with financial stability.
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RISK ASSESSMENT PROCESS

Risk identification is based on discussions and interviews with
management from different departments. Risks are preliminary
identified by management from the risk universe which is a collection
of risks built on environmental analysis and external benchmarking
that can impact the Group at the entity or specific business process
level. Key risk factors are then identified by integrating the results of the
discussions and interviews.

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact and
likelihood of identified key risk factors. These identified key risk factors
are further assessed by a scale rating process by the management to
evaluate their impact and likelihood.

Risk prioritization is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to prioritize
the identified key risk factors according to their impact and likelihood.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group has an internal audit function which is primarily responsible
for developing various internal control manuals and procedures,
conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the
related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk
management and internal control policies and procedures. In addition,
the Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material
controls such as financial, operational and compliance controls. In
addition, the Board has appointed an internal control consultant to
review the internal control systems of the Group on an on-going basis.
Such review shall be conducted annually. The Board considered that
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for the
year were effective and adequate.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

o the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and the Company’s website;

o the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential
or inside information; and

o the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the Company Secretary and
the head of investor relations of the Company are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LI Yan Wing, Rita (‘Ms. Rita Li") was appointed as the Company
Secretary. She is currently an executive director of the Corporate
Services Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and
investor services.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Ms. LI Jia, an Executive Director has been designated as the primary
contact person at the Company who would work and communicate
with Ms. Rita Li on the Company’s corporate governance and
secretarial and administrative matters.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020, Ms. Rita Li has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
in November 2018. The policy aims to allow the Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s
liquidity to capture future growth opportunities. The Board intends to
recommend an annual dividend which would amount in total of not
less than 30% of the net profit from ordinary activities attributable to
Shareholders for full financial year but subject to, among other things,
the Company’s operational needs, earnings, financial condition,
working capital requirements and future business plans as the Board
may deem relevant at such time. Such intention does not amount to
any guarantee or representation or indication that the Company must
or will declare and pay dividend in such manner nor declare and not
pay any dividend at all. Cash dividends on the shares of the Company,
if any, will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.

The Company may from time to time consider paying interim dividends
and special dividends. The Board has complete discretion on whether
to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.

The Board will review this policy from time to time and may adopt
changes as appropriate at the relevant time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the memorandum of association and
the Articles of Association of the Company (the “M&A”) or the laws
of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals
or move a resolution may, however, convene an extraordinary
general meeting (the “EGM”) in accordance with the “Procedures for
Shareholders to convene an EGM” set out below.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholder(s)’) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the
Company Secretary for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at
the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must deposit
a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (presently Unit 4203, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include
the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) at the EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the
Requisition. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as
not in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of
the outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM nor
include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO SEND
ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, presently at Unit 4203, 42/F, Tower One Lippo
Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong, by post or by email at
i-hk@msok.com, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward the
communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to
the chairman of the appropriate committee; and

3. ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries
and client complaints to the appropriate management of the
Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy with
the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders will have equal and
timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company’s financial reports, AGMs and other EGMs that may be
convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

BRAEESERANIEF
fERAMESeREEANER BB HFxE
ARRIRBENEELEX£ M (B AEEECE
& $E B89 /1 B D — FEA2124203F ) EH &
ir-hk@msok.com ' W1 A B AR ME °

=
=<
ozl
oy
N\
48
7

=111

ik A TWESEE T BN

1. FRESSHRSEANSHEENTES:

2. FHREZEBRTZESRESEANEEE
MHEZEEXE M

3. —REBEE(FImEE MBEREFRH)
ERARAEERE-
B R amE

ARRFERABBABE - B 0 ARERBIRK
AP EREEREARR TEI’\J%%’T;%J&%E%H‘IE
BERATTEREENEAFREESSELRR
£y N

ERBTEBBARRAMBEHRSE RRAFAS
Ko B At m] BE B B A AR A5 Bl K & B [A) Bk 32 P ER X
METEREERANMERE -

/

BREXMH
RATREE2020F3A31B FFEEN TR XM
3 4 2 & o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT AND OUR MANAGEMENT
TO ESG ISSUES

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARY

This is the forth Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report
(“this Report”) of Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”). This report outlines the
Group’s ESG policies, management approaches and initiatives, with
the support of quantitative performance indicators to visualise the
Group’s efforts in managing material ESG matters.

Unless otherwise specified, this Report covers the Group’s operation
of restaurant chains in Hong Kong from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020
(“the reporting period”). As of the date of this report, the restaurant
chains consist of 16 restaurants located across Hong Kong and a food
processing centre.

During the reporting period, the Group has set up a wholly owned
subsidiary, REAIR (ZBR)EFEHE AR 2 A (“Minshang
Ningbo”) in the PRC, which focuses on B2B business offering of 3C
electronic products, frozen foods and grain & oil products sourced
from manufacturers or wholesalers to distributors. Despite Minshang
Ningbo contributes a majority of the revenue of the Group, in view of
its business nature and size of workforce, the Board of Directors of the
Group (the “Board”) consider that the ESG risks of this subsidiary are
limited and decide not to cover this subsidiary in this ESG Report. The
Group will continue to review the business and market trends to identify
any ESG matters which possess significant impacts to our operations.

REPORTING STANDARDS

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix 27
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”). The report content, together with
the environmental and social metrics, fulfils the “comply or explain”
provisions as well as the “recommended disclosures” required by the
Guide.
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Meanwhile, the reporting principles set out in the Guide serve as the
underpinning foundation of the preparation and presentation of this
Report —

o Materiality — A list material ESG aspects was identified through
a sophisticated review of the Group’s business, market
development and stakeholders’ concerns and served to
determine the focus of this report.

° Quantitative — Quantitative data on the Group’s social and
environmental performance was disclosed with multiple-year
comparisons and discussions on the trends observed.

° Balance — Apart from the achievements attained, rooms for
improvement in the Group’s ESG management was also
discussed in this report.

° Consistency — Consistent methodologies were used for the
compilation of environmental and social metrics as far as
possible. Annotations added to information indicated changes of
calculating methodologies, basis and factors affecting consistent
disclosure and a meaningful data comparison presented.

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for overseeing and
directing the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. This Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board on 23 June 2020.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

To engage internal and external stakeholders in shaping the Group’s
ESG management priorities and approach, employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners were invited to participate in an online
survey to evaluate the relevance and significance of various ESG topics
in their relationships with the Group in 2017.

On top of the stakeholder-based materiality assessment results,
the management also conducted an industry and media analysis in
2019 to ensure that the materiality analysis results are in line with the
industry’s context and development. The management reviewed capital
market ESG rating methodologies and the ESG reports of appropriate
market players, and drew insights from the press coverage related to
the food and beverage industry in Hong Kong.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Environmental, Social and“Gove_rnancg Be ort
RE -HERERRE

In addition to the regular ESG matters, the global pandemic of RIRE HEREGBZEREFIN 20198MNEE
COVID-19 has an impact to our operation and is considered a material REDDIET  HEMANEEEKREE  MILESR
topic to be reported in this Report. Incorporating a consideration of BERAmEARENEEZE - EE 220192
the COVID-19 impact, we hereby confirm the following ESG topics are MESHEHOFE BAZLERATRE £k
material to our operation during the reporting period. Their relevance to EREAHBEMRREHANEEMSBELN

us is explained accordingly:

ESG topic
BRI - HEREREE

ZEHAERFINARIEC EL AR

Why is this relevant
HERE

Customer health and safety
BEEREELTE

In view of the pandemic, the government has adopted a series of regulations and
health care and hygiene advice. The Group adheres to all regulations applicable to food
premises and exercises our due care to minimise customers’ health and safety risk
exposure during their dining experience at our restaurants.

EREE BAERN—RINERUARBRRENFEEZZ -AEEETERNRBE
PR AEER TR NBLPBETERMNEERREREGENRRE LR Z R -

Food safety and quality
EmTrREE

The Group delivers food as the major products and services to its customers, where it is
liable and accountable for the safety and quality issues induced from the food it served.
Any food safety and quality incidents due to inappropriate internal control could lead to a
significant damage to our brand value.

AEEMEEERNRRERFEERERRE ARt HERERRNLTEREEM
BB -HNANHEFHTEERNENT REEEFH I eREREETRMOmEE
([E10

In view of the pandemic, it is our responsibility to pay extra attention on the safety of food
preparation and delivery processes, to avoid any kinds of food contamination.

ERRE HPEEAERIIERAEBLEXABIENRE  NELEARMTR-

Occupational health and safety

BEEEIZE

The food and beverage industry is labour-intensive and, thus, upholding high standards
of occupational health and safety is a top priority to our management team and operation
agenda.

ERTEBSHNERNTE Bt #FSKTFRERRERZ 2 /EFMNEERBK &
EENEERE-

In view of the pandemic, it is important to maintain a healthy working environment for
employees that they are supported with protective measures and exposed to minimum
health risks at work.
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RE-HERERARE

ESG topic Why is this relevant

B HERERRE HERE

Employment relationship A stable workforce is one of the keys to maintain hectic operations and uphold product
EEEE and service quality, while lowering recruitment and training costs.

BRHINREMERRMAEAFECLERBRBER MRGEENRKRERS RIE

IRARERAEZ —-

Waste management, with a Waste management remains to be a major sustainability challenge for Hong Kong while
focus on food waste and use of food waste shares a significant portion of waste disposed according to government
disposable utensils statistics. Disposable food packaging and utensils could also increase the burden to
BREYEIR HZARLEMR waste management system of Hong Kong.

— KRB EmER BEBNEE EEVEBNISEBEIENTHBERRIE 2 — MEREMHEEN

FHBEAR - —RERMEBEIABANTSENBEENERRGNEE-

In addition, we also consider the following topics relevant to our
operation:

= Customer services and complaint handling

- Procurement

- Energy consumption

- Compliance in managing emissions and discharge

This ESG Report focuses on disclosure on our management approach
and performance of the aforementioned topics.

OUR MANAGEMENT TO ESG ISSUES

With the Board of Directors’ supervision, the senior management
team of our subsidiaries which operate the restaurant chain have
applied stringent management standards and internal control to
the aforementioned material topics. Monthly meetings between
the senior management and the store managers are arranged to
discuss regulatory updates and operational performance, such as
service quality, occupation health and safety alerts, etc. The senior
management team also conduct regular store inspections to make sure
the ESG internal control measures are well implemented.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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PRODUCT AND SERVICE RESPONSIBILITY

The Group believes that maintaining high standards of food and service
is the cornerstone of our long-term business success. We strive to
provide a pleasant experience to our valued customers by improving
the taste of food and protecting their health and safety.

Labelling and privacy matters are not considered material topics to the
Group’s product and service offerings.

CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY

To safeguard the health of customers and contribute to delaying
the spread of COVID-19, the Group has taken various measures to
cope with the pandemic. We actively observe and implement the
latest government regulations and recommendations relevant to
our operations. We have acted in accordance with the Prevention
and Control of Disease (Requirement and Directions) (Business and
Premises) Regulation (the Regulation) (Cap. 599G and 599F). We
limited the number of customers within 50% of the normal seating
capacity of the restaurants and maintained at least 1.5 metres between
one and another table during the effective period of the Regulation.
We also placed partitions to reduce direct face-to-face contact of
customers, as well as ensured there are no more than 4 people sitting
on a table. Our staff conducted a temperature check for any person
who entered our restaurants and provided them with hand sanitizer.
We require everyone in the restaurant to wear a mask except when the
person is enjoying their meal. We also conduct frequent cleansing and
disinfection on food contact surfaces and high touchpoints, including
but not limited to tableware, doorknobs and tabletops.

During the reporting period, we do not observe any violations or any
complaints regarding the Prevention and Control of Disease Regulation.

FOOD SAFETY

Maintaining food safety standards is at one of the highest priorities
of the Group’s business operations. We have obtained and regularly
renew all necessary operating licenses, including general restaurant
license, food factory license and restricted food permits, issued by the
Food and Environmental Hygiene Department (‘FEHD”) and Centre
for Food Safety of the Hong Kong Government. The licenses ensure
that our food processing centre and restaurants meet food safety
standards.
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Committed to upholding food safety, the Group has formulated
Restaurant Operation Manual, Food Safety Manual and other
guidelines in accordance with the requirements listed on the codes and
material published by the FEHD. The guidelines set out procedures
related to food safety matters, covering the procurement, storage and
delivery of food. The guidelines also provide instructions on hygiene,
sanitation and proper waste disposal. The Group’s F&B Operations
Department actively monitors the implementation of the guidelines to
ensure compliance of operating sites to the regulations. Besides, the
Department regularly observes the latest food safety and hygiene-
related regulations and revises the guidelines accordingly. We also
hold monthly meetings on food safety requirements to facilitate
standardization and achieve consensus among all operations of the
Group.

The Group receives, stores and processes food ingredients in the food
processing centre, as well as conducts food preparation procedures
such as unfreezing, cutting, blending, steaming and marinating. We
have implemented a series of food safety and quality control measures
for all procedures in the centre. For example, food ingredients are
stored separately at a specific temperature which is indicated clearly
outside each cold room. It ensures that all food ingredients are stored
at the optimal temperature. Besides, we adopt a first-in-first-out
inventory management approach and set a maximum shelf-life for the
food to ensure freshness. All food containers are clearly labelled to
avoid mixing and cross-contamination. Staff must wear gloves, masks
and hats properly when processing food.

The Operations Director, district managers and designated hygiene
managers regularly visit and inspect the restaurants to make sure
employees adhere to our hygiene requirements. At least one senior
staff in each restaurant is appointed as the health supervisor after
attending a training course approved by the Hygiene Manager and
Hygiene Supervisor Scheme of the FEHD. The appointment will be
updated from time to time to engage more employees to perform food
and hygiene control duties.
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In the face of the outbreak of coronavirus disease, we attach our
operations in accordance to the “Food Safety and Hygiene Advisory
for Food Premises on the Prevention of COVID-19” issued by the
FEHD and Centre of Food Safety. To meet the hygienic standards,
we have reinforced the cleansing and regular disinfection of kitchens
and general area of the restaurants. The restaurant managers are
responsible for ensuring the sanitary conditions are up to standards.
Staff entering the kitchen are required to keep their hands clean by
using hand sanitizer or washing hands with soap and water. We have
also strictly adopted the proper food handling practices suggested by
the government.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance
with the Food Safety Ordinance (Cap. 612), the Public Health and
Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132) and other applicable laws and
regulation regarding food safety, as well as the conditions stated under
the operating license.

FOOD QUALITY AND CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

The Group takes customer satisfaction as an important driver for
our continuous improvement. We pursue to better understand our
customers’ needs for food quality, customer service and dining
experience, and are constantly striving to meet their expectations.

We have formulated a Recipe Form for every available dish on the
menu for the reference of kitchen staff in both food processing
centre and at store level. The Recipe helps standardize the food
possessing procedures to provide customers with food of high and
consistent quality. Through training and regular communication, front-
line staff could understand the standardized specifications including
temperature, taste and presentation, and prepare food according
to the specifications. The F&B Operations District Managers and
the management conduct regular and surprise quality checks.
Mystery customer surveys conducted by third parties are arranged
to certain stores to obtain objective opinions. Any stores identified
with unsatisfactory performance must review the food processing
procedures and make simultaneous improvements under the
supervision of the Operations Director.
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The Group conducts market research and food quality research to
capture fast-changing market trends and customer expectations.
We regularly update our menus, services and prices based on the
research results. We also conduct customer satisfaction assessments
constantly. Based on the feedback collected through the customer
feedback form, different stores can formulate respective plans and
programs for improving food quality, service standards, hygiene and
dining environment. Besides, we conduct taste evaluations at selected
restaurants before officially launching new dishes.

We have also established formal channels and procedures for handling
customer complaints. At store level, customers are welcome to file
complaints about any of their unpleasant dining experiences to staff
on duty. While most of the complaints are solved at the store level,
the unsolved complaints will be escalated to the administrative office
and handled by the designated officer. They are also responsible
for handling the complaints reported through the customer service
hotline, government authorities and mass media. Respective store
managers help consolidate and report the received complaints to our
administrative office in a timely manner through internal communication
channels. Reasonable solutions including redress will be determined
and offered to customers upon inspection and substantiation of the
complaint.

The Group constantly reviews the records of complaints filed and
discusses with frontline staff during monthly meetings to enhance staff
awareness and competency in maintaining service and product quality.
During the reporting period, 83 cases of customer complaint was
recorded, representing a 30% drop compared to last year.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The quality of the Group’s product offering relies significantly on
suppliers, who provide food, packaging materials and other equipment
for the Group’s daily operations. Therefore, we actively engage with
suppliers and strive to establish sustainable and mutually beneficial
business relationships with them.
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In order to effectively manage our supply chain, we have established a
supplier selection program and compiled a list of approved suppliers.
Potential suppliers are required to undergo a series of pre-approval
procedures. Documents like the operation license and product origin
are closely examined, while we practically evaluate their food quality,
reliability and timeliness of delivery. Suppliers may be required to
provide a small number of products for sample testing to further ensure
quality of products offered.

As the partnership continues, we continuously monitor the
performance of suppliers. For example, our staff carry out checking
on the quality, freshness, temperature, and packaging of the receiving
goods in both the food processing centre and restaurants. If the
incoming goods are of unacceptable conditions or do not meet the
Group’s prescribed standards, return or exchange of order will be
issued. Suppliers who repeatedly deliver unsatisfactory products or
misbehave may subject to termination of contract.

Given the inherent risk of corruption in the procurement and quality
control procedures, we have formulated the Code of Conduct to
guide ethical business operations and uphold business integrity. All
directors, officers and employees should fully comply with the principles
contained therein and must comply with all anti-corruption laws,
regulations and rules applicable to our business. The Group fully abides
by the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance provisions. All members of the
Group are prohibited from engaging in any corrupt practices, such as
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

RE - HERERRE

REREEHRERE R HEHBREES
TREEZERERRE BEHREBEALET
RO ERRIE BT AREREF A RER
KREXM FEERFEERMREE XA
SUERSRME -HERAEARTIEERAR
oAl WE—SRRARERCEREE -

MEAEBHEESE RATHERHERR
Beflan ZMAMWBEITERAMIHLRERRSE
BEWEmcEE FHE AENRBE - HKERE
RAAERZRRKATE RN EE 2 ERE A
HELRBIES SRINTRENERRITA
CERNHERSEHRRLESH-

ENRBEIEEETREFERTFEANERISE
% BAEHETRTA AEEBREHEER
HERNENE 2RES SABENEETES
EESTEMHRA W BEETERARRMARSE
B —IRETER ER LR AEB 2 EE ST
By LERERR IR GI) 2 ME-AEBE2BREHE
IFEEEAERTTR M 9K BEFAER

%o

RERIRIERBAR QA
20204 F 3}

69



Enviropmentgl,ﬁocial and Governance Report
RE-HERERARE

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT ANEREE

Our employees support our office administration, food processing HZMNEEANAZEE BRI RATGEEE
and frontline restaurant operations. As a responsible employer, EERRIF - FREBETEE AEBEAER
the Group has invested resources to ensure that employees are BRESERHEERF NIRRT 2 HEERTIE
offered competitive compensation and a safe and healthy working RIE B RIEI D 2 BT RF AR EHTIAT o
environment. The detailed information of workforce' ? by category is

shown below.

6%

48%
Gender
4 51
Female @ =l 30 or below 30 BREUAT
Male B 31-50 @ 31E50%%
50 or above 50 B3 £
6% 5% 2%

Employment Employment

Category
EREER

Type
EREER

Perman.ent ® KA Frontline staff @ A48T
Part-time A Middle management REREIRE
Senior management SHREEE
L The statistics is as of the end of the group’s financial year. ! ZEEA BB HEREEMREER
g The statistics exclude the employees that are serving the investment holding 2 ZEGHTEBETEERBRAEEREZERARR
arm of the group and Minshang Ningbo. REaIRH(BER)ZES -
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY (OHS)

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe and
healthy working environment. We aim to minimize OHS risks in our
overall operations by establishing internal work safety guidelines and
conducting on-site inspections. We have identified and addressed
potential hazards in the workplace and the food processing centre.

All newly hired employees must receive OHS training to gain sufficient
knowledge of work safety. We also provide induction training for new
employees in the food processing centre so that they are equipped
with skills to operate the machines properly. High-risk procedures such
as cutting and blending should only be performed by experienced
employees. We also display the operating guidelines and safety tips
published by the Occupational Safety and Health Council in prominent
areas with higher risks, such as outside the refrigerator and next to
machines. Personal protective equipment and auxiliary tools, such as
heat-resistant gloves, masks, trolleys and safety ladders, are provided
for employees’ daily performance of duties.

The Group also implements engineering monitoring to mitigate
OHS risks. For example, in the food process centre, most cooking
procedures are shifted to automation, in order to reduce the use of
open flames and knives and thereby minimizing related OHS risks.
Protection shield is installed on machines and equipment to further
protect employees who operate related machines. We attach great
importance to fire safety and thus arrange regular third-party inspection
and maintenance of fire equipment in accordance with regulatory
requirements. The Group also ensures that sufficient and properly
working fire blankets and fire extinguishers are installed and that
employees are familiar with the evacuation process.
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In view of the current outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has quickly
responded and taken various measures to protect the health and safety
of employees. Staff are subject to regular temperature check and are
required to wear a mask at work. Any staff who feels unwell will be
required to stop working and apply for sick leave. We have placed
partitions to reduce the face-to-face contact between customers
and our employees. Masks and hand sanitizer are also provided to
employees on a need basis. We prohibit customers who refuse to
wear masks or have abnormal body temperature from entering our
restaurants to prevent employees from being infected. We also clean
and disinfect the restaurants frequently, especially the high touchpoints,
kitchens and floor.

The Group takes utmost care of work-related injuries and accidents.
All cases must be clearly recorded and reported to the administrative
office for further investigation. The Group also provides an effective
insurance policy to employees who are involved in work-related injuries.

During the reporting period, there were 3 cases of work-related injuries,
resulting in 181 lost days. These cases had been investigated and
reported following the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap.
509) and the Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap.
59). The injured employees were entitled to sick leaves and insurance
coverage accordingly. To avoid reoccurrence, these injury cases and
preventive measures had been discussed among the F&B Operations
Department and store managers in the monthly meeting. In future, the
Group will continue to strengthen the implementation of OHS control
measures to protect employees from occupational hazards.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations to recruit
employees and maintain relationships with them. The recruitment team
implements a set of review procedures to prevent the recruitment of
illegal workers, including but not limited to child labour and forced
labour. The procedure involves reviewing and recording the applicant’s
identity documents and proof of residential address.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

R B RI2019EMRESHRIE - AEE D A RE
B RBMZEER UWREREENRENZ 28
T/AF EITERIR OB - WAR TIERME NS -
EARBTENETHAFLETELRHFRR-
HZMAERERKR WRLBEREMNES ZH
HEEEE - RATMREFTERNERERHOER
HFR-BMELERMBOSHBERTHOE
FEABRPINVER - B BB X E R - HAFITR
BREBENHESER LESREEBNYME
M BB MRS

AEERE2NRETIERER - MERINEFTB
BBt miTREES2RARE-—FAE K
KBRS R TENEEREBRNRR-

RS IR R B3R TIERMEFHLE  BEIEK181
EIER -HERHDET BELEHERK
By (%509%F ) & (T R T AL & 5P (%59
BE)EIRABWEERE -ZEREEMAEZERR
MRBRE - R AN ETERFIBREL  ER
HEREERGAREZ LA EEKE Bi&
REBBPBENRERRERRRT 2 ERRE
NRERECERERR -

BREZBER

AR B ERAS TA R ROAR RIS B R RIE
BMRR-REAKKE - EESRFURN T
B8 T (BEATRRETRRHLT) -2
FF 35 2 B R RO B 0 5 13 S B b

il A



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In our restaurant, we arrange work schedule of frontline staff according
to business needs. In order to protect employees’ rights to statutory
rest days, we communicate with employees on all arrangements
to obtain their confirmation and consent. The Group also arranges
appropriate rest periods and holidays in accordance with applicable
labour laws and regulations. As we have a number of shops closed
down during the reporting period, we endeavour to reallocate the
affected staff to other restaurants of the Group, so as to reduce the
financial impact on our staff.

The Group communicates fairly and openly with employees about
employment arrangements regarding benefits and welfare, recruitment,
promotion and training based on the Group’s Employee Handbook
and employment contracts. All employees are entitled to benefits,
such as birthday leave and medical insurance. Frontline employees
are also provided with free lunch at work. Full-time employees receive
discretionary bonuses as recognition of their contributions and hard
work at the end of the year.

The Group is committed to creating an inclusive workplace and pays
attention to mutual communication and respect. The Group prohibits
discrimination in any forms related to age, race, gender, religion, family
status or any other factors protected by law at all level.

During the reporting period, the Group operated in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Equal Opportunities Ordinances and other applicable laws
and regulations regarding employment matters.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group recognises the importance of staff development to
our sustainable business growth. By enhancing the capabilities of
employees, we improve the quality of products and services delivered
to customers. The Group has been investing resources in training and
development plans and strives to grow with our employees. We mainly
impart them experience and knowledge through induction training and
on-the-job training. We also provide food safety and hygiene training to
all employees, covering topics like food temperature, dish ingredients,
foodborne illnesses, personal hygiene and other proper operational
practices. Regular operation meetings are also held to ensure the
correct delivery of information to various departments, stores and
employees.
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REBRA RARBEBHERLHARETNHT
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As responsible corporate citizen, the Group acts in different
aspects to reduce its adverse impacts to the environment and
promote environmental protection at our day-to-day operations.
We conscientiously pursue optimal resource consumption, pollution
prevention and emission control. With the encouraged engagement
of employees and customers, the Group anticipates to creating more
lasting environmental values for its stakeholders.

The Group’s operation does not create significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

WASTE MANAGEMENT AND REDUCTION

While waste management remains as the major environmental
challenge for Hong Kong, the Group has adopted a proper waste
management approach to handle the considerable amount of waste
generated from its operations. Such waste, including but not limited
to kitchen food waste, meal leftover, waste cooking oil, packaging
materials and other general waste, are handled properly and by
different means. We also strive to reduce waste disposal to landfills
through active reuse and recycling practices. For instance, recycling
of carton boxes and reuse of appliances and equipment in good
conditions are widely adopted throughout our operations.

Food waste

To reduce the amount of food waste generated, we have taken different
approaches for food waste of different types. For unsold prepared
food, we manage and monitor closely the supplies and inventory to
avoid over-ordering. Staff are also encouraged to utilise all ingredient
supplies efficiently to reduce wastage. For meal leftover, customers can
request for meals of smaller portion if needed.

Moreover, for stores operating in shopping malls that have
implemented a food waste recycling program, the Group strictly follows
the instruction and supports its business partners by segregating food
waste before disposal for their further handling at ease.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Waste cooking oil

Cooking oil is one of the major consumable ingredients for our
operations. With the commitment to create more environmental values,
we handle waste cooking oil consciously to minimise its hazardous
impacts by selling it to qualified parties under the Waste Cooking Oil
Recycling Administrative Registration Scheme. The oil will be recycled
and transformed into useful and high-value industrial products, such as
biodiesel and soap.

Packaging material

In the digital era which online delivery platform are easily accessible,
we are aware of the trends and customers’ preference in food delivery,
as well as the environmental impacts created by the excessive use
of disposable food containers and utensils. Especially during the
COVID-19 outbreak, the demand of take-away orders increases
significantly. We support customers who pursue a green lifestyle
and, thus, serve take-away orders without disposable utensils and
drinks consumed in-the-store without plastic straws upon customers’
request. We also serve take-away orders in customers’ own container
as long as no food safety and quality problem has come to our
concern.

The Group will continue to explore in environmentally friendly and
sustainable materials and packaging designs and options, so as to
contribute to overwhelming waste generation challenge in Hong Kong.

During the reporting period, the Group’s operations comply with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354); no violation and punishment
is filed by the relevant regulatory authorities. The Group will continue
to observe the development of the waste charging scheme and
proactively implement new initiatives to respond to the regulations.

ENERGY AND GREENHOUSE GAS MANAGEMENT

The Group consumes mainly electricity for its restaurant operations,
covering procedures like refrigeration, cooking and other daily
operational needs, while a few of its restaurants consume towngas as
the major cooking fuel. In view of this, we concluded that most of our
greenhouse gas emission arises from electricity consumption, together
with limited amount of refrigerant fugitive emission.
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At store level, we have implemented a range of energy saving initiatives
to attain optimal energy efficiency performance. Installation of LED
lighting at all restaurants is one of the examples. Also, we provide
staff with smart energy consumption tips and remind them to avoid
unnecessary energy consumption in their daily performance of duties.
The operation scheduling of energy-intensive equipment is initiated by
employees at stores and allows mass processing of food at specified
timeslots to replace the round-the-clock approach. This helps reduce
the excessive energy consumption throughout the day.

The F&B Operations Department and store managers are responsible
for monitoring and reviewing energy consumption of each store. Any
identified inconsistency of energy consumption records to the business
performance will be followed up and rectification will be required
accordingly.

On the other hand, machines in our food processing centre are subject
to regular check-ups by contractors to avoid malfunction which may
result in redundant energy consumption.

AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL

The Group is aware of the air and water emission generated during its
operations and endeavour to avoid pollution through various preventive
measures. Not only do we aim to minimise the adverse impacts to
the environment, we also recognise our responsibilities in reducing the
associated public health issues.

By installing range hoods and hydrovents in the food processing centre
and all restaurants, we capture cooking fume emission from food
preparation. We also installed grease traps to remove grease and other
oily substances contained in wastewater and liquid food waste from
different food preparation processes. Kitchen staff should clean up the
grease trap on a regular basis in prevention of leakage of grease and oil
into the wastewater stream.

The Group ensures no emission and discharge exceeding the limits set
out in the operating licenses of its operations. We remind staff to be
conscious on any abnormal situations observed at the emission outlets
and responsibly report any known or suspected violation of regulations
relevant to hazardous discharge of air and water.
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During the reporting period, the Group’s operations comply with the
Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 358); no violation and punishment is filed by the
relevant regulatory authorities.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group embraces inclusiveness and places respect to various
community groups. Therefore, we make our quality food and services
accessible to customers not only by reasonable pricing, but also
creating a barrier-free dining environment. Our restaurants are designed
in accordance with the “Design Manual: Barrier Free Access 2008”
under the Building (Planning) Regulation, while staff are reminded to
offer adequate help for customers with special needs.

The Group continues to dedicate its resources to support community
initiatives. During the reporting period, the Group made a direct
donation of HK$5,250 to the Future Stars — Upward Mobility
Scholarships 2020 organised by the Commission of Poverty
in supporting secondary school students from less privileged
backgrounds to achieve their full potential and move upwards socially.
The Group will further explore the opportunities in which it can
contribute to the local community.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE RIBEN
Indicator Unit 2018/19 Figure  2019/20 Figure
BE By 2018/19F 8 2019/205 Hi&
Nitrogen Oxides (‘NOX”) emissions Gaseous fuel consumption kg 11.56 11.21
RAmBEs REEMELER T
Sulphur Oxides (“SOX”) emissions Gaseous fuel consumption kg 0.06 0.06
k=R (ke i RESIMELERE T=
Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) Stationary combustion of Towngas  tonne CO: equivalent 152.92 148.35
RERBHER(EET) 1 S B TE R M_aftiEE
Fugitive emissions (HFC and PFC) tonne CO:2 equivalent 426.15 33.158
from use of refrigerant W LiE =
{5 B2 B 2 4 bR B
(RREREMREELY)
Total tonne COz equivalent 579.07 181.50
HE WS iREE
. The fugitive emission greatly reduced as there was no replacement of 3 HARAREEERSEINTHR O 8T RELSH - Skt

refrigerant this year at the food processing centre.
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BRE HERER®RE

Indicator Unit 2018/19 Figure  2019/20 Figure
BE By 2018/19F B 2019205 Hi&
Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)  Purchased electricity* tonne CO:2 equivalent 2310.62 1969.68
REREHR (HE2) HNEEE M_aftiREs
Purchased Towngas® tonne CO:2 equivalent 33.78 34.69
SN RS M_aftikEs
Total tonne COz2 equivalent 2344.40 2004.37
me M_SLiRESE
Total greenhouse gas emissions Total tonne CO2 equivalent 2923.47 2185.86
RERBASENE HE M_SLiRES
Intensity tonne CO:2 equivalent 17.1 16.4
HE HKD million revenue
M_S{tikEE/ B8
BT
Non-hazardous waste generated Food waste disposed® kg 23648 18108
BEEVELS EE R amREYP T=
Waste cooking ail recycled L 266767 30384
BEERRAHBBKE Ft
Qfﬁce paper purchased kg 750 650
WARRBEES Tr
Direct energy consumption Purchased Towngas MWh 798.6 7747
BEER SNEESR K ELES
Indirect energy consumption Purchased electricity MWh 4275.2 3741.7
R #E HNEEE N K FLES
Total energy consumption Total MWh 5073.8 4516.4
EEF S we KL
Intensity MWh per HKD million 29.6 34.0
BE revenue
kEE,/BEBTHS
4 Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of g ZEHFEIIRBEABRENIRERDPEER D BIHN2018

electricity sold published by Hong Kong Electric Investments and the CLP

Group in 2018 and 2019 respectively.

& Figures were calculated based on the carbon emission factors per unit of gas e
production published by the Hong Kong and China Gas Company in 2018 and

2019 respectively.

N Figure was calculated based on an estimation with reference to the average £
daily food waste generated from stores in 2017. The Group will explore means

to measure food waste disposed more accurately.
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RE - HERERRE

Indicator Unit 2018/19 Figure  2019/20 Figure
BE By 2018/19F 8E  2019/205 Hi&
Water consumption Total m?3 76234 43563
FEKE HBE MR
Intensity m?® per HKD million 4452 327.5
EE revenue
MAK/BEBTYE
Packaging material consumption® Plastic bag (Processing) tonne 8.5 Y5
BEME B BRI (ML) 7
Plastic bag (Take away) tonne 2.2 1.2
BRI (INE) i
Foam/Plastic food container tonne 12.4 13.6
BRR/BHRMAR 1]
Total tonne 23.2 20.3
BE WA
Intensity tonne per HKD million 0.14 0.15
BE revenue
W, BB TR
Remarks: #T:
1. The Group’s operation does not produce significant amount of hazardous 1. AEENEEVEEAAEREEEEY -Eit WE
waste. The quantity of hazardous waste generated is therefore not disclosed. BEAEEANBEREDEE-
2. Results achieved by the measure mitigating emissions and energy 2. AEBEXRBEEESMBAHEREREEBRNER M
consumption was not individually quantified. The Group monitors the overall EEFERERBRIERR -
reduction performance on an annual basis.
3. The Group consumes municipal water in Hong Kong where there is no 3. AEEREBBEFEMEMK 1 E S I &R E K

significant problem of water scarcity. The Group has yet to implement water

efficiency initiatives and thus no quantifiable achievement in water saving is

reported.

4 Figure was restated to align with the calculation methodology adopted in 2019
and to better present the actual situation.

E Figures were compiled based on the purchase records of packaging materials.

7
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE HEEX
Indicator Unit 2018/19 Figure 2019/20 Figure
BE By 2018/19F H & 2019/20F &%
Workforce by category® Male Number 62 22% 29 19%
RERE 5 £ and
BT AZC Female percentage 217 78% 126 81%
Z 4 AERB D
Age 30 or below 39 14% 10 7%
B0k LA T
Age 31-50 134 48% 71 46%
31-505%
Age 51 or above 106 38% 74 47%
1Rk A £
Permanent 201 72% 145 94%
KA
Part-time 78 28% 10 6%
e
Senior management 5 2% 5 3%
SRERAB
Middle management 10 4% 7 5%
FREBRAE
Frontline staff 264 95% 143 92%
RIARE T
Total 279 100% 155 100%
HBET

9

Workforce indicators refer to the number of employees as at the end of the

Group’s financial year.
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RE - HERERRE

Indicator Unit 2018/19 Figure 2019/20 Figure
BE B 2018/19F &% 2019/20F 1%
Average monthly Male percentage == 12.9% == 15.4%
employee turnover rate®® 514 BOk
FHAE Female -- 6.4% -- 8.8%
N g
Age 30 or below - 18.3% -- 22.7%
30mR AT
Age 31-50 -- 5.6% == 8.9%
31-505%
Age 51 or above -- 6.2% == 8.6%
S1ERE Ak
Overall == 7.9% = 10.4%
]
Work-related fatalities Number and 0 0% 0 0%
ETERRIE T A rate
AB K b &
Lost days due to work-related injury Number of 753 NA 181 NA
ETHEELXTIERE calendar days e A iE
HEXE
Product and service-related complaints Number of 118 NA 83 NA
B8 7 EE o S AR 7% HY 1% 5 cases i@ A NEA
= E
Charitable donation HK$ 10000 NA 5250 NA
RERE ETT N E A T iE A
10 Monthly employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of v AEEERAEDNEEEANKLEBBENEIE

employees terminated employment relationship in a month by the average
number of employees in a month. An employee may terminate employment
for multiple occasions within a year. Repeated resignations are included in
calculating the turnover rate. Average monthly employee turnover rate is

A

calculated by dividing the sum of monthly employee turnover rate of a year by

12 months.
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The Directors present this report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the operation of Viethamese-style
casual dining restaurants with 16 restaurants in Hong Kong and
trading business in Mainland China as at 31 March 2020. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements. The segment information of the
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020,
including (i) a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group; (i) an indication of likely future developments in the
business of the Group; (i) an analysis using financial key performance
indicators; (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and (v) an account of the Group’s key relationships with
employees, customers and suppliers, is set out in the sections headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report respectively. These
discussions form part of this annual report.

Details for the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and the
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the financial year are set out on page 95 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 107 of
this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020.
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the Shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2020 are
set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, was approximately HK$117.7 million inclusive of share
premium and accumulated losses.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and there
is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 203 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 March 2020.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group donated HK$5,250
to a charity.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 8 November
2016. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 29 November
2016 and its principal terms are summarized below:

(1) PURPOSE

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Board to grant options to Eligible Persons (as defined below)
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and to recruit and retain high calibre
Eligible Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

(2) ELIGIBLE PERSONS

“Eligible Persons” refer to (i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time, including any director) of any
member of the Group or invested entity; and (i) any supplier
of goods or services, any customer, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support,
any shareholder or other participants who contributes to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity.

(3) TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
ISSUE

A maximum of 20,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue on Listing Date, which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.
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(4)

()

(6)

(7)

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE
PERSON

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting and
subject to the following paragraph, the maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

Options granted to a substantial Shareholder or an INED or any
of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number of
Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, must be approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting in advance.

OPTION PERIOD

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, an option may
be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at any time before
the expiry of the period to be determined and notified by the
Board to the grantee which in any event shall not be longer than
ten years commencing on the date of the offer letter and expiring
on the last day of such ten-year period.

MINIMUM VESTING PERIOD

No minimum period for which an option must be held before the
exercise of any option save as otherwise imposed by the Board in
the relevant offer of options.

PAYMENT ON ACCEPTANCE OF THE OPTION

Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to submit
to the Company a duly signed offer letter within 21 days from the
offer date together with a payment in favour of the Company of
HK$1 per option as the consideration of the grant.

(4)

()

(6)

(7)
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)

BASIS OF DETERMINING THE EXERCISE PRICE

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such
price as determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date (the “Offer
Date”), which must be a trading day, on which the Board
passes a resolution approving the making of an offer of
grant of an option to an Eligible Person;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the Offer Date.

REMAINING LIFE

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which period
no further options shall be granted. All options granted and
accepted and remaining unexercised immediately prior to the
expiry of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been

granted under the Share Option Scheme. Therefore, no option was

exercised or cancelled or has lapsed during the year ended 31 March

2020 and there was no outstanding option as at 31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. WU Jiangtao
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LU Sheng Hong
Ms. LI Jia
Mr. WAT Tat Fei (resigned on 30 April 2019)
Mr. TAO Jingyuan (appointed on 6 March 2020)

Non-Executive Director
Mr. WONG Stacey Martin

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KO Po Ming

Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy
Mr. CHEUNG Miu

Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election. As such, Mr.
TAO Jingyuan who was appointed by the Board on 6 March 2020 shall
be subject to re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three
years.

Accordingly, Mr. LU Sheng Hong, Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy and Mr.
CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick shall retire from office at the forthcoming
AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 27 to 36 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. WU Jiangtao, Mr. LU Sheng Hong and Ms. LI Jia, being
the executive Directors, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing on 6 July 2018, which
will continue thereafter unless terminated by either party giving to the
other not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. TAO Jingyuan, being the newly appointed executive Director, has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year
commencing on 6 March 2020, which will continue thereafter unless
terminated by either party giving to the other less than three months’
notice in writing.

Mr. WONG Stacey Martin, being the non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of his appointment, and
either the non-executive Directors or the Company may terminate the
agreement by giving the other party not less than one month’s notice in
writing.

Each of Mr. KO Po Ming, Mr. CHOI Tze Kit, Sammy, Mr. CHEUNG
Miu and Mr. CHEUNG Pak To, Patrick, being the Independent Non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year commencing on 6 July 2018, which is
renewable automatically for successive terms of one year commencing
from the day immediately after the expiry of the then current term of his
appointment, and either the Independent Non-executive Directors or
the Company may terminate the agreement by giving the other party
not less than one month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors, including those are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM, has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of each Director
and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise naotified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Number of Approximate

Shares held/ percentage of

interested the total

Name of Director Capacity Name of associated corporation (Note 1) issued Shares
EERT

Fits/ BERDZ ROEE 2

EEpng 54 HEEE AR RO#AE (KiaE1) BREDL
WU Jiangtao (‘Mr. Wu’) (Note 2)  Interest of controlled corporation  Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings 200,000,000 11.29%

RIB(REE]) (HiE2) RRAEED

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd

(‘Minsheng E-Commerce’ ) (Note 3)
RESHAR ORI BERD
(REEHI) (ME3)

1) Interests in shares stated above represents long position.

(2)  These equity interests in Minsheng E-Commerce were held by# Il K& &l
EREFRD (BRAE) Shenzhen Minshang Chuangye Investment Center
(Limited Partnership)*) (“Shenzhen Minshang Limited Partnership”) which
was owned by, among others, &Il R 7 3 R 1% & E 12 H R A 7(Shenzhen
Minshang Development Investment Management Co., Ltd.”) (“Shenzhen
Minshang”) as to 98.4% and Mr. Wu as to 0.8%. Shenzhen Minshang is
owned by, among others, Mr. Wu as to 76.92%. As such, Mr. Wu was deemed
to be interested in 11.29% equity interests in Minsheng E-Commerce.

) Minsheng E-Commerce is deemed to be one of the substantial shareholders
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares or underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies, to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

*for identification purpose only
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any controlling Shareholder had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY AND OTHER PERSONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware of as at 31 March 2020, the following
corporations and person (not being a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, as follows:

ERAR NG R e
BERAMBREM 1M REEI RERLF
P B ) » 404 7 A0 () e AN 22 ] L T
BRI REMERRR AR EREE
Az BRAERAEB 2 EBAH (THED
MASEE R R -

ARAREBRRMEAMALTRARR]
At B A B A A B #E 2 MO R

NOR =

FLEBAE  R2020F3A31H U TEBE R A
T (WHEBEHAARREEITEHAER) R E
BN R AEBEREBES KRB KA EXVERE2 K3
DEEMEN A TR BN R IOAR AR BN A
NERERS M EKHIEIB6RZHEEEATE
ZEBERMANERSIAE T

Percentage of

the Company’s
Number of Number of Issued
Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Ordinary Shares Derivative Shares share capital
EARRT
TERRHRE LB 5/ EnitE EER¥A fTERGEE BRTREAEAL
MSEC Holdings Limited (‘MSEC Holdings”) Beneficial owner 491,048,182(1) = 57.17%
(Note 2)
MSEC Holdings Limited ( [MSEC Holdings | ) ERfAA
(HE2)
RUNMING International Limited (‘Runming”) Interest of controlled corporation 491,048,182(L) - 57.17%
(Note 2)
HHEEARAR ([HE]) (FaT2) RELEER
Shanghai Yingzhao Investment Management Company ~ Interest of controlled corporation 491,048,182(1) = 57.17%

Limited* (“Shanghai Yingzhao”)
(Note 2)

HERRREERERAR ([LERRB])
(PitzE2)

REzEREE
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Percentage of

the Company’s
Number of Number of Issued
Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Ordinary Shares Derivative Shares share capital
EART
TERRHEEB 5/ BuitE EEREE fTERMBHE BTRAEAL
Beijing Ruitao Technology Company Limited* Interest of controlled corporation 491,048,182(L) = 57.17%
(“Beijing Ruitao”) (Note 2)
TREENBRAREAAR ([LREH]) R ER
(H&F2)
Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Interest of controlled corporation 491,048,182(L) = 57.17%
Co., Ltd (‘Minsheng E Commerce”) (Note 2)
REEEER ORI ERAR (REEH]) REEEER
(H&E2)
R. G Investment Limited (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 59,059,580(L) 16,760,000(L) 6.88%
R. G Investment Limited ( Ff7£3) R rERER
XU Lingyan (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 59,059,580(L) 16,760,000(L) 6.88%

hES

Notes:

1.

AER)

Rz

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

As at 31 March 2020, 491,048,182 Shares were held by MSEC Holdings.
MSEC Holdings is wholly-owned by Runming which is in turn wholly-owned
by Shanghai Yingzhao. Shanghai Yingzhao is wholly-owned by Beijing Ruitao
which is in turn wholly-owned by Minsheng E-Commerce. As such, Minsheng
E-Commerce, Beijing Ruitao, Shanghai Yingzhao and Runming were deemed
to be interested in the Shares interested by MSEC Holdings.

As at 31 March 2020, Kilmorey International Holdings Limited (“Kilmorey
International”), Kilmorey Funds SPC Limited — Kilmorey Global Opportunity
Fund SP (“Kilmorey Fund’) and Kilmorey Securities Limited (‘Kilmorey
Securities”) had direct interest in 39,283,655, 19,603,925 and 172,000
Shares respectively. Kilmorey Fund and Kilmorey Securities are wholly-owned
by Kilmorey International, which is in turn wholly-owned by R. G Investment
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Ms Xu Lingyan. As such, Ms Xu
Lingyan and R. G Investment Limited were deemed to be interested in a total
of 59,059,580 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors and the chief

executive of the Company are aware, as at 31 March 2020, no

corporation/person (not being a Director or the chief executive

of the Company) had any interest or short position in the Shares

and underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the

provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which was

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

*

for identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no Director had interest in any
business apart from the Group’s business which directly or indirectly
competed, or was likely to compete with the business of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year or at the end of the year was the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, or the holding company
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into below connected transactions,
which is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

() PROVISION OF LOAN

The Company entered into a loan agreement with Runming
International Limited, a controlling shareholder indirectly holding
approximately 56.7% of the total issued share capital of the
Company through MSEC Holdings Limited as at the date of the
agreement on 15 January 2020, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to provide an unsecured loan in the principal amount up
to HK$13,000,000 at an interest rate of 8% per annum for a term
of 3 months.

() MAJOR ACQUISITION

On 31 December 2018, MSCT Investment Limited ( B & &1 R1#%
EHBBR AR (the “Purchaser”’) being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA”) with RAETBEIER CRYI) AR QA
(Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd) (the
“Vendor”).

Pursuant to the SPA, the Vendor shall sell and the Purchaser
shall purchase the entire issued share capital (the “Sale Share”)
and a shareholder’s loan (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) of MSEC
Investment Limited (the “Target Company”).
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The Target Company is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability. It directly owns the entire issued
capital of MSEC Investment (HK) Limited (“MSEC HK”) which
in turn owns 50% interests in It RRFEERETFEKERA
Al (Beiing Minshang Zhihui E-commerce Co., Ltd*) (‘Minshang
Zhihui”). Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology
and e-commerce related business in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) focusing on providing e-commerce services to
financial institutions and its other customers in the PRC.

The conditions precedent to completion of the SPA have been
fulfiled and completion took place on 24 April 2019 on which the
Sale Share and the Shareholder’'s Loan have been transferred
or assigned to the Purchaser in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the SPA.

The Company has allotted and issued 58,918,182 consideration
shares to the Vendor at the issue price of HK$1.1 per
consideration share pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the SPA. The 58,918,182 consideration shares represent
approximately 7.36% of the issued share capital of the Company
prior to the issue of the consideration shares and approximately
6.86% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the consideration shares.

Following completion of the SPA, the Company indirectly owns
the entire issued share capital of the Target Company, which
in turn holds 50% equity interests in Minshang Zhihui through
MSEC HK. As such, the Target Company and MSEC HK will
become wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and the
financial results of the Target Company and MSEC HK will be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Company, while
Minshang Zhihui will only be accounted for as an associate of
the Company following completion. Accordingly, the financial
results of Minshang Zhihui will not be consolidated to the Group’s
accounts.

For more details about the Placing and the SPA, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 25 March 2019.

Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year,
are disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
Certain related party transactions set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute de minimis continuing
connected transactions and are fully exempt from the connected
transaction requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

* for identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the related party transactions disclosed in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his/her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, was entered
into or subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The five largest customers in aggregate and the single largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately HK$713.1 million or 70.6%
and HK$344.0 million or 34.1% of the Group’s total revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2020 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately HK$750 million or 83.1% and approximately HK$233
million or 25.8% of the total purchases of the Group’s total purchase
respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the issued Shares) had interest in any of the above five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report, which was in line with the requirement under the
Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, during the year ended 31
March 2020, the Group complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Material subsequent events after 31 March 2020 and up to the date of
this annual report are disclosed under the sub-section “Events After the
Reporting Period” under the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty, in their respective offices. Such permitted indemnity
provision has been in force throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

WU Jiangtao
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23 June 2020
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To the Shareholders of Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of Minshang Creative Technology
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set

out on pages 107 to 202, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March

2020;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year . #

then ended;

Independent Auditor’s Report
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e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then s HEZBILFEMNGEERZHR -

ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then °

ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include °

a summary of significant accounting policies.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

° Revenue recognition of trading business in PRC
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Key Audit Matter
BREETSE

Independent Auditor’s Report
% 3L 1% BBl 3R &

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EFOMEEBRETSIE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

WH - BERREURREREEEZ R E T

Refer to note 2.9 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies on impairment of non-
financial assets and note 4.1(b) on the critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to the impairment and

provision.
EEEFERMEERBECETHRERGEMBHREM T
29 MABBRENEE 2 BE Gt kAR KT
4.1(b) °

The Group has a portfolio of leased properties used as
outlets for its restaurants. Management periodically assesses
whether there is any impairment indicator that property, plant
and equipment (“PPE”) and right-of-use assets (‘“ROU”) may
be impaired.

EREEZHEEEYMREREERPIE EBETHNMERE
BEEDE BELERE ([ME BEREKE]) REREE
E([EREEE]) ARERENTMRETR-

Management determined that each restaurant is a cash
generating unit (“CGU”). For a CGU where there is any
indication of impairment, management estimates the
recoverable amount of the PPE and ROU using the value
in use method and determines if provision is required by
comparing the carrying amount of the PPE and ROU with
its recoverable amount. The value in use of the PPE and
ROU is estimated using discounted cash flows forecast
over which management makes judgements on certain key
inputs, including revenue growth rate, operating margin of
the relevant restaurants and the discount rate applicable to
the CGU.
EREETERERYA—AReELBU ([REeELSE
f]) -MEEEAREFRCBEEELSELTS  EEERN
REREEEMT YR BB KR EREAEEE 2 FTKRE
TR UBEBRYE BERREREREEEZRAER
HAWOSBETER BEEREFEELBE -ME K
ERFHEREAEEENERAEBEVIZAHER RSN
HEITER MRZEEAS  ERERE TEER ASUEE
HHE - SEAEERNREERE KM EXRREE
HEBEAEARREER X -

Our procedures for assessing the impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets included:
BAFHEYE  BERREAREREEE ZRENIETE
1’

o Discussing with management the approach used
to identify indications of impairment for the Group’s
CGUs.

e HEBENWAMN BE5H
Tk e

ReELBORETFRD

° Evaluating management’s identification of impairment
indicators by considering the appropriateness of the
negative performance criteria defined and checking if
all the restaurants with negative performance criteria
were properly identified.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter
BREETSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EFTOMEEBRETESIE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

WX BERIREUARCEHELEZHEE (E)

As a results of management assessment, the Group
recognised impairment loss on PPE and ROU assets
amounting to HK$1,182,000 and HK$12,590,000,

respectively.
KEBENML BEXEERME HEIREARLRAE
EEMREEIES 5 /A1,182,0007 7T & 12,590,000/ T ©

We focused on this area because this assessment requires
the use of significant management judgements was used in
assessing the impairment of PPE and ROU.

BMEERN SR REARKGEYE  BKEREENURE
FAEEENRER LT AEREREEE -
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For CGUs where there were indicators of impairment, we
performed procedures to assess and corroborate the key
inputs to their respective discounted cash flows forecast (the
“DCF”) used in determining the recoverable amount of the
PPE and ROU, including:
REREFRNESELSLN S  KMEHEEWE &K
EREBARGREEERA OIS EBRBIEZRAEANE
BRI S METRR ([BRRIRES M ETRA ) EITIEF - AFT
HEZBEFEGARE FRARETFEHE:

o Evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions
used in the DCF, including revenue growth rate and
operating margin, with reference to management’s
development plan and historical performance of the
relevant restaurant.

s ZEEREIZERASINMMBEBRZBERSE TH
EAﬁﬁiﬁfﬁimEﬁ AERA TERR (BRKEER

MEEEMBER) 2 &R

o Assessing the discount rate used in the DCF with
reference to external source of market data;

o  ZEHNITMBEBERR TERMIRR S RETRAE
FAZ BRER  ;

o Testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted

cash flow model and calculation of provisions.
o AFMBRReEREEARAERE 2 EMERN -
We found, based on our audit procedures performed, that
the significant management judgements in the assessment
were supportable with available evidence.
RBBPIPMETOEEFF  RABRAELFEPERNE
REBEHE B BESF-



Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EFOMEEBRETSIE

Revenue recognition of trading business in PRC

R B2 B 5 ET 2 K2k

Refer to note 2.20 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Group’s accounting policies on revenue recognition
and note 4.1(c) on the critical accounting estimates
and judgements in relation to the principal versus agent
consideration.

EEEFANEHRACETRE AR BHRERME
2.20 - MABETEAERIBEAZZ R 2 BRSH A R AE
FBHizE4A(c) °

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
commenced the operation of trading business in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) which included
trading of 3C electronic products, frozen foods and grain &
oil products.

REZE202063A31HLEFE: BEXRBERERTEARK
ME ([FE])EEEHER  BIE3CEFEM < RRm’
AR HEMLE S

In accordance with the criteria prescribed by HKFRS 15, the
Group evaluates whether it acts as the principal or agent in
revenue from trading business to determine whether revenue
should be recorded on a gross or net basis.
BREBEEBMBRELENFISHREZER BEXKETHE
HEAREZEBWSTERETTEASIRIEAN  UEE WS
D EIRATESFEEE AR -

Significant management’s judgements are involved in
determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or agent in such trading business. Management has
considered, individually or in combination, of the following
factors in the determination of principal or agent.
BEAEREBHE S REET EXEREREHESEKH
EREFEAIREA - BEENEELZTEAIRIEAREE
RSk FZEIA TEZE -

o whether the Group has obtained control on specified
goods before it is transferred to its customers;
o EEEEREFEES TEMmAI S ST

Our procedures in relation to principal versus agent
consideration mainly included:

BPAREREARREBEAZEENREF T ERRE:

° Discussing with management to understand the
business model and assessed judgements applied by
management in the determination of principal or agent,

e HERENWRATHEGEARTHEREERNETE
FEA AR IR A B PATE AR A 26T

o Reviewing contracts with suppliers and customers, on
a sample basis, to assess whether contract terms are
supportable for principal versus agent consideration,
in accordance to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards,

e RERTEMENNRE WMEESHEAHRERREP
WER T ENBRAESAI X HERAEREA
HE R

° Testing of revenue, on a sample basis, by examining
the relevant supporting documents, such as good
delivery notes and customer’s receipt note.

s FARSHBBHAXG (MEXEERTFKIE) MMk
BB s 2 o

We found, based on our audit procedures performed, that
the significant management judgements in the assessment
were supportable with available evidence.
RREMPTETNEA R HAEREL TR ERANE
RNERE A T HBRE S FFo
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AL BB R
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRETEE RPN EFTOMEEBRETESIE

Revenue recognition of trading business in PRC (Continued)

R B2 B 5 EH 2 KR (E)

° Whether the Group is primarily responsible for the
fulfilment of the revenue contracts;
o EEERSIERERTWESL:

o Whether the Group is subject to the inventory risk; and
J EXERTHGRFERR &

° Whether the Group has discretion to establish prices
o EXERSAMIEEEER

As a result of management’s assessment, the Group
recognised revenue from trading business amounting
HK$875,318,000 in gross basis and amounting
HK$1,231,000 in net basis.

KEBENE BEEERRAFEEERFHEEBRAZE
5 ¥ 15 Wz 5 Bl /#875,318,000/ 7t K& 1,231,00078 7T ©

We focused on this area in view of the magnitude of
the revenue from trading business to the consolidated
financial statements and the use of significant management
judgements in determination of principal versus agent
consideration.
ENEHEBHRSHREMBBRIRNEARREREETE
ZREABREBAZZRERKEAEAETEEAE  WEMEE
N
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 3L 1% S R

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Ka Keung, Johnny.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
EETHEWEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &% 2020 4 3 A 31 HiFF/Z

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt & FTET T
Revenue from principal activities: FEEBWE 5
Revenue from Vietnamese-style R R S e
restaurant business 132,947 171,233
Revenue from trading business B 5 EBE W= 876,549 =
1,009,496 171,233
Cost of food and beverages B o &SRB AR (32,967) (42,027)
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKAR (870,157) -
Employee benefit expenses EEBAMFAX 9 (49,319) (58,350)
Depreciation and amortisation & K 5 (39,237) (12,118)
Property rentals and related expenses YER S MAEBERX (10,484) (64,240)
Fuel and utility expenses MBERAREERS (5,751) (6,644)
Advertising and marketing expenses EERERRAE (761) (902)
Impairment loss on property, plant and WxE BEREEZ
equipment BEEE (1,182) (5,190)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEZRERSE (12,590) —
Other operating expenses H g E s (18,502) (21,591)
Share of post-tax profit of associates DEHEE A TE 2
BR 7 1%V ) 3,498 =
Other income and other gain H b A R E b U 5 6 8,169 305
Finance (cost)/income, net BME (KAR) WA F5E 7 (755) 1,084
Loss before income tax BRATB R AT B 1R 8 (20,542) (38,440)
Income tax expense FriS#iF > 11 (428) (4,496)
Loss for the year FREE (20,970) (42,936)
Other comprehensive loss: Hih2EEE:
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss ~— FJFEEFT HIHE E 2.2
HE :
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBEER
foreign operation ME 5 = 5E (544) -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FARAEZHEEEAE (21,514) (42,936)

EH AR AR A
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEEEWER
For the year ended 31 March 2020 &% 2020 % 3 A 31 HIFF/E
2020 2019
2020 20194
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
M5 FHET T T
Loss attributable to: AT AL EE:
Shareholders of the Company ZINNET 1423 (20,937) (42,936)
Non-controlling interests FET2E I e (33) -
(20,970) (42,936)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: ATALEEEZEEE
4R -
Shareholders of the Company PN/ i3 (21,481) (42,936)
Non-controlling interests JEE RS (33) =
(21,514) (42,936)
Loss per share attributable to AR E R B R EE
the shareholders of the Company
Basic and diluted loss per share FRERNEFER
(HK cents per share) (&AM 13 (2.45) (5.37)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should A 2 Y R e B RE P B 5 — OF B RE -

be read in conjunction with accompanying notes.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a BRI R

As at 31 March 2020 #2020 %4 3 A 31 A

2020 2019
20204 20194
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
e FHET T T
ASSETS BE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e ] 14 7,039 12,828
Right-of-use assets FREEE 25(a) 31,674 -
Intangible assets mivEE 6 9
Investments in associates REEERRINIEE 15 71,096 =
Rental and utilities deposits HeERkAREEERSE 18 10,133 11,512
Prepayments for business acquisition XEBWEE 2 B KIE 18 - 2,788
Loan to an associate M — A E R R ER 15 15,000 =
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTIS TR B E 26 1,096 541
136,044 27,678
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories rE 16 1,967 2,098
Trade receivables =Y e QL] 17 46,896 639
Prepayments, deposits and ENRIE ek
other receivables E {th fE Y zk08 18 13,511 10,306
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHEK AT EZ SREE 19 15,055 35,476
Current income tax recoverable A W B B HA Fr 5 75 263 588
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMREZEEY 21 28,481 48,161
106,173 97,268
Total assets BEE 242,217 124,946
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to shareholders of AT RRELERS
the Company
Share capital f& A 27 2,147 2,000
Other reserves H b R 152,431 88,312
(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings (RFER) REBAEF (19,242) 1,695
135,336 92,007
Non-controlling interests IR R (33) -
Total equity MR 135,303 92,007

RERIRHERAR QA
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBARRE
As at 31 March 2020 #2020 % 3 A 31 H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M e F&ET FET
LIABILITIES afE
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEnBERE
Other payables H b &~ 5E 23 1,946 3,470
Lease liabilities HEaE 25(a) 20,554 —
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTSTRAE 26 1,046 423
23,546 3,893
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Trade payables 2 S ENFIE 22 14,406 3,514
Other payables and accruals H b e ZIE KRR E A 23 20,575 25,532
Bank borrowing RITIER 24 10,895 -
Other borrowing H At 5 X 24 12,226 =
Lease liabilities HEEE 25(a) 25,248 =
Current income tax liabilities BNERFT S A E 18 =
83,368 29,046
Total liabilities HweE 106,914 32,939
Total equity and liabilities HWEZREE 242,217 124,946

The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 202 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2020 and were signed

on its behalf.

Wu Jiangtao
RILE
Director

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read

in conjunction with accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

hEEmEER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &% 2020 4 3 A 31 HiFF/Z

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

RRARRRER
Retained
earnings/ Non-
Share Share Capital Exchange (Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses) Total interests  Total equity
REBFH/
B R EE EARE EifiE (2iER) @y FERER ags
(Note 27 (Note)
(Frsko7) (FsE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T TAL ThL ThEL THL THL T
At 1 April 2018 M2018%4A1A 2,000 87,970 342 - 44,631 134,943 - 134,943
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZEREESE
loss for the year - - - - (42,936) (42,936) - (42,936)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 Apri 2019 #2019£3A31H
R201954R1R 2,000 87,970 342 - 1,695 92,007 - 92,007
Loss for the year FRER = - - - (20,937) (20,937) (33) (20,970)
Other comprehensive loss: HE2EEE:
Currency translation iference ERBEES - - - (544) - (544) - (544)
Total comprehensive loss 2EEBRGE - - - (544) (20,937) (21,481) (33) (21,514)
Transagtion with shareholders BRRIR5
Issuance of new shares BITHR 147 64,663 - - - 64,810 - 64,810
At 31 March 2020 202053 A317 2,147 152,633 342 (544) (19,242) 135,336 (33) 135,303

Note: Capital reserve represents the difference between the share capital of the
operating subsidiaries acquired, pursuant to the reorganisation, over nominal

value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read

in conjunction with accompanying notes.

fisE: EARRERERESEA B2 EENERRRAR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 2020 % 3 / 31 HiFF/E

2020 2019
20204 20194F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
b= FHET T T
Cash flows from operating activities RETEBBSESRE
Cash used in operations KEMARS 29(a) (6,355) (7,192)
Interest received A B 1,272 521
Hong Kong profits tax (paid)/received, net (B BREBFER
R (17) 1,016
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEEFAR e REFEE (5,100) (5,655)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBFBSESRE
Payment of property, plant and equipment VI R R AT 5K (2,233) (5,358)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME  BE K& E
plant and equipment Z B sRIA 29(b) 74 -
Payment for business acquisition EWRB AR = (2,788)
Payments for financial assets at REHEKATTEZ
amortised cost ECREEM R (44,827) (49,801)
Proceeds from financial assets at REHEAATEZ
amortised cost TRLE EFTSRIA 65,000 14,888
Loan to an associate M — M E R R E XK (15,000) -
Change in restricted cash 2R HIER 2 E 5 - 1,114
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) WEEREE (FTA)
investing activities e EFE 3,014 (41,945)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEBBESRE
Proceeds from bank borrowing RITEKATERIA 29(c) 33,591 -
Repayment of bank borrowing EERITER 29(c) (22,413) -
Proceeds from other borrowing H {8 RATE FIE 29(c) 43,291 =
Repayment of other borrowing EEEMER 29(c) (30,746) =
Interest paid BAFE (1,651) —
Principal element of lease liabilities HEBBZASEH D 29(c) (39,627) =
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEFDMARSREFHE (17,555) =
Net decrease in cash and ReRkReEEBYRDFHE
cash equivalents (19,641) (47,600)
Cash and cash equivalents FNReRBEEEY
at the beginning of the year 48,161 95,761
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and [ R & 8h¥ R 4
cash equivalents ReEBYewE (39) -
Cash and cash equivalents FRASRELSEEY
at the end of the year 21 28,481 48,161
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LR GRS =5 E B M s — O BIRE

conjunction with accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 14 April 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of
business is located at Unit 4203, 42/F, Tower One Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the operation of restaurant chains in Hong Kong and
trading business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

From the late January 2020, the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
(“COVID-19") was rapidly evolving globally. The subsequent
quarantine and social distancing measures imposed by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“Hong Kong Government”) had adversely affected the restaurant
operations of the Group. Although the financial performance
of the restaurant operations might not be fully returned to the
level before the COVID-19 in the upcoming financial year, the
operating performance of the restaurants in subsequent month
is gradually improving. In addition, the second phase of the
Anti-Epidemic Fund by the Hong Kong Government would be
released in the second half of 2020 and the Group expects that
the financial position would improve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements
are for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(@) New and amended standards and
interpretation adopted by the Group

The following new and amended standards and
interpretation have been adopted by the Group for
the first time for the financial year commencing on 1
April 2019:

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle
(@amendments)

HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment
or Settlement
(amendments)

HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures (@amendments)

HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
(amendments)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income

Tax Treatments

The Group had to change its accounting policies
as a result of adopting HKFRS 16, details of which
are disclosed in Note 2.2. The adoption of other
amended standards and interpretation listed above
did not have any impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBRERMEE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 HEE
(b) New and amended standards and (b)

framework not yet adopted

Certain new and amended standards and framework
have been published that are not mandatory for
financial year beginning on 1 April 2019 and have not

been early adopted by the Group:

BEACHEERE (8)

B (@)

&) A BR AN B H 5T R R AEET

A RIESR

BETHI MBI ERRIERE
M HER2019F4 B1BHBA Z
B B 1) oK o il AE 0 TR
NEBIRFERA

Effective for

accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RO HEER
ZEBR I
SHBEX
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material (amendments) 1 April 2020
BB ERFEIHR KR EPN:hE-ACCHEA) 2020F4H1H
EB BT ERIE8HR
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework for 1 April 2020
Financial Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting
2018 F I IR & < B HE 2R RERT MRS 2 BERHESR 202054 A1H
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Hedge accounting (amendments) 1 April 2020
BB ERIFEI95 - mast (BFIA) 20204 A1H
M B RELER BT K
BB M wE LR E5R
HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business (amendments) 1 April 2020
BRI E LR E355R EBHEE (BFIR) 20204 H1H
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 April 2021
EBM B ME LR E175R Rz a4 2021F4H1H

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

FRMBHRELENE105 K
B GRTERFE285%

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

To be determined

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

(amendments)
REEZRABEARRALRRAZHOEE i
HESEE (BRIA)

The Group’s management assessed that there are
no new and amended standards and framework that
are not yet effective and that would be expected to
have a material impact on the entity in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Amended standard early adopted by
the Group
The Group has early adopted the following
amendment of HKFRS for the financial year
commencing on 1 April 2019:

HKFRS 16 COVID-19-related rental concessions
(Amendment)

The amendment to HKFRS 16 allows lessee to elect
not to assess whether a rent concession occurring as
a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic is a
lease modification.

A lease applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS16 if the changes were not
lease modifications.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16
Leases on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As indicated in Note 2.1 above, the Group has adopted
HKFRS 16 Leases retrospectively from 1 April 2019, but
has not restated comparatives for the 2019 reporting
period, as permitted under the specific transition provisions
in the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments
arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised
in the opening consolidated statement of financial position
on 1 April 2019. The new accounting policies are disclosed
in Note 2.22.

REMBRERME

BRASFTHERBE (#)

BB ()
(€ BAEHRROWEE
SET)

AREEDN2019F4 51 HFAKE
B EEIRPRNATE BTG
R Z187]

A5 B 7% R 2R A 1658 — B
201978 MR Jos 5 AB A A AE R
(BRI )

BB B ImE LR FE165 (BF]
) SR A A B ZE R FEE2019
BRASREBEEESRELN
HeREEETEHEEIER -

ERRTHEEREBESRHZES
FHMEHREDAK HAR
Eﬁﬁﬁ\fﬁﬁﬁi‘kiﬁiiﬁﬁlj”ﬁ 6%2\

Ho

22 BTHEKREE

7 B 5o B8l BR A 8 B A 3R 5 R RN 5B
1SR HEHARESREYBRERZE
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A iR R - AN B 820194
4518 BB WIRNE B B 75 RS 2R
F16RIAE - MR AR 2 R EE
16 ST BT 55 ] + 3F 48 55 5120194 2R & A1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

(Continued)

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of
HKAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1
April 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 April 2019
was 2.53%.

(i) Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has
used the following practical expedients permitted by
the standard:

° applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics,

° relying on previous assessments on whether
leases are onerous as an alternative to
performing an impairment review,

° excluding initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the
date of initial application, and

° using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend
or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial
application. Instead, for contracts entered into before
the transition date the Group relied on its assessment
made applying HKAS 17 and Interpretation 4
determining whether an arrangement contains a
Lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRRMEE
2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BACHHEEWME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 22 SHBESH (&)
(Continued)
(i) Adjustments recognised on adoption of (i) RENEEMFHREEL

HKFRS 16 - Lease liabilities

F16TE R ER < AT -
BEa8fE

HK$ 000
T
Operating lease commitments disclosed M2019F3 A31 H #HFEHY
as at 31 March 2019 K T B AR 46,811
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental R E X FER B HE AAE AR
borrowing rate as at the date of initial HEE BN XREEER
application 46,162
Of which are: Hepm:
Current lease liabilities nBHEaE 29,430
Non-current lease liabilities ERBEHEERE 16,732
46,162
(iii) Measurement of right-of-use assets (iii) FHEEERE

The associated right-of-use assets were measured
at the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted
by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments, carrying amount of reinstatement cost and
provision for onerous contracts relating to that leases
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019.

HENGERAEEERESENEE
BEFENSETE  WIRER
201993 A318 2 ir & B Ak 5
RERHEGRE 2 FATER K
ErENR ERERKREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
(Continued)

BEAGITHREBRE (@)
22 EEHEREH (@)
(iv) RENETEMBREER

HERE Z 8
HEMBNRIE ()

(iv) Adjustments recognised on adoption of
HKFRS

Consolidated statement of financial
position (extract)

As at
31 March 2019, Effect on As at
as previously adoption 1 April 2019,
stated of HKFRS 16 as restated
M2019%F  HAFENK 720194
3H31H HEER 4718
MERIZS  F16RITE K&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT THETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % « &= M & & 12,828 (344) 12,484
Right-of-use assets FHEEE = 34,535 34,535
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities FERBAG
Other payables A FE < SR IE 3,470 (1,221) 2,249
Lease liabilities HEAE - 16,732 16,732
Current liabilities nEEE
Other payables and accruals £t & {5 B &
EEtE R 25,532 (10,750) 14,782
Lease liabilities HEEBE - 29,430 29,430
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXREITBEEE@®
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 SUBSIDIARIES 23 WEAA

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acqusition method of accounting is used to account for
business combination by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
assets. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity respectively.

Ft /B ™ 71 T 5 7 B B S L o A P o
WFEER (BRABTEER) X
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

23.1

Business combination

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

o equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BARETHIEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23 MEATR (&)

231 B A6 (4

2.3.1 Business combination (Continued)

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions.

AT

o PTEENE:

o RAWBERZEMIFE
biEm s 28 &

o  EREAMRAKEBER
PR B B2 AP E

BHMUKERI B EEREZR
FEZEZBINEREE WS
SRERARBERG A ERIEE
FEZATE MZEREER
BaERSEERE-

i 4 AT 48 H 3R & HKAE 2 AE 1 B8P
7 RREMNFIAK R LA H
ZBEEMRR -FTARRESER
ZILEEEN X BIREA LR
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Contingent consideration is classified either as equity ZAREBEIEAERIERE
or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial B-nfERecmABE L CHEER
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with EHNHEEATE MAFEE
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. AN ERNER °

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from the
investment if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

2.4 ASSOCIATES

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case when the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, the investments are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in
the carrying amount of the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EXREITBEEE@®
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 ASSOCIATES (Continued) 2.4 HERNT (#)

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
‘impairment loss on investment in associates’ in the profit
or loss.

fHARE D (8L R BB RER KB
BN EE A RS (B EEREMD
EEMEUERZ) - AARE TSR
HE—BER  BRIFEARZBE AR
BrAERHEEREERFELAR-

AEEBEBERNRZHEXZMESL
MARERKNSRIEARERZBERT
Z W BRI o @%%X%hmhﬁ
EHMEREELTRE TRIRE
%Eﬁ%ﬁ%°%ék$&éﬁﬁzﬁ
AARREEMLERELEE - RERE
REEPTERAZBR - -

i P Bt 2 X B B0 HE B A 2 D (BT
RBERTES  ERLHINIEZATE
Hth2HRaRERANBBEETH>E
ZiEm (WEE) °

REERNBEREANECEEAR
BB BB S AR EERIE -
MEEERE AEEAERE ©F
REBENRKRESEHEEEREYZ
MEESE WHIBEPERA (R
RAIZT/E ZRERE] -

;H]

jD

R AIRHERR B R A A

202051’— £}

125



126

Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in the profit or loss, except when deferred in other
comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents
are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within ‘other operating
expenses’.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EAGTHRHME #m

POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 25 SHEEBRE (%)

(Continued)

(c) Group companies (c) EERQF
The results and financial position of foreign operations e EBEES| EEANEMNEER
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary ER(ERUTEBEWIREEN
economy) that have a functional currency different BEE)MEE MM BARAEET
from the presentation currency are translated into the NENBmEREYE:

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i)  income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect to the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expense are
translated at the date of the transactions), and

@iy all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss
on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM”). The CODM, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company, who make
strategic decisions.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs, net
of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

— Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or

10 years

— Restaurants and kitchen Shorter of lease term or

equipment 5 years

— Computer equipment Shorter of lease term or
5 years

— Furniture and fixtures Shorter of lease term or
5 years

— Office equipment 5 years

— Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’'s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other
income’ and ‘other operating expenses’, respectively, in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks

Separately acquired trademarks are shown at historical
cost. Trademarks have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks over
their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(i)

Classification

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities
in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEMBHRRMEE
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EACHHEEME @)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES QI0EMEEREE (&)
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued) (ili) 7= (@)
Debt instruments (Continued) EFETER &)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is recognised as finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in ‘other gains/(losses)’
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OClI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.
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Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(iii)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “other gain” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not

reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(c) for
further details.

2.11 INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises invoiced cost less purchase
rebates. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 17 for
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1(c) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

2.13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafts.

2.14 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 27).
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

2

BEACHEERE (8)

2.12

2.13

2.14

BEZREMEYRRER
EHRUKBERN —REBBEP
EEEmACDRERBGMEKREFH
IR 5 H P R E MW IRTE R AR
—EFHUAANE (KR IEREFEHELE
A ABREERE) RISBERRY
BE BRAZIERRBDEE-

5 RBKBNFREFTRESHE
BR - RIEZFEHREFABRSEXN
BMEKD  ERFRZRALBERER-

SEFAEZRKFAEN BN RKE
BREESRE  FHNERERERMEX
EREHERAGEE SRR - B/
REEHE 5 RUFIAN ST RIEZN
FZER B2HME17  AEAEE
HRE R R - 2B E3.1() °

RERAESEEY
RREARSRBRANZIIME B
ERESENLEFARS SRKE
EHTER MBI R E S EARAN
MEBE AR RBIMERE (BRI S
RAMEBZASREEZPART
AE) RBITES °

H

B
ERko RS (ME27) - #1TH
P B $ A1 ) 738 B AN TR #E 25 P A
S sRIRHERIR (BR IR ) PR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BARETHIEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 215 ES REMERTIE

These amounts represents liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.16 BORROWINGS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid
on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the drawn down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised
as prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
finance costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.16 BORROWINGS (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the

Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period which
they are incurred.

2.17 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BARETHIEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

217 ENHI IR FR S8 (80

(b) Deferred income tax (b) IEEZEREH

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

2.18 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities
are presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

For Hong Kong employment, the Group contributes
to the mandatory provident fund scheme for eligible
employees, the assets of which are held in a separate
trustee-administered funds.

For PRC employment, it is covered by various
government-sponsored pension plan under which
the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant government
agencies are responsible for the pension liabilities to
these retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans.

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(d) Long service payments

In Hong Kong, employees who have completed a
required number of years of service to the Group are
eligible for long service payments under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment, provided that such
termination meet the circumstances specified in the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

(e) Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the Group
has formally announced the bonus payments to
employees.

2.19 PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BARETHIEME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 PROVISIONS (Continued) 219 B (@)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Until 31 March 2019, onerous contracts are contracts in
which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected
to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under
a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the
contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.

From 1 April 2019, the provision for onerous contracts is
adjusted against the right-of-use assets, see Note 2.2 for
further details.

2.20 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenues are recognised when
goods are transferred or services are rendered to the
customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, service may be provided over time
or at a point in time. Service is provided over time if the
Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

When determining the transaction price to be allocated
from different performance obligations, the Group first
determines the service fees that the Group entitles in
the contract period and adjusts the transaction price
for variable considerations and significant financing
component, if any. The Group includes in the transaction
price some of all of an amount of variable considerations
only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

If contracts involve the provision of multiple services, the
transaction price will be allocated from each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRERME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BACHHEEWME @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) 220 Wz TR (&)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the
Group presents the contract liability when the payment is
made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A
contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from
the customer.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for
the principal revenue streams of the Group.

(i) Revenue from Viethamese-style
restaurant business

The Group operates a chain of restaurants. Revenue
from restaurants operation is recognised at a point in
time when catering services have been provided to
the customers.

(ii) Revenue from trading business

In accordance with the principal versus agent
considerations prescribed by HKFRS 15, the Group
evaluates whether it acts as the principal or agent in
revenue from trading business to determine whether
revenue should be recorded on a gross or net basis.
The Group is acting as the principal if, individually
or in combination, it controls the specified good or
service before being transferred to the customer,
is primarily responsible for fulfilling the contract,
is subject to inventory risk, and has discretion in
establishing prices. An agent arranges for goods or
services to be provided by the principal to its end
customer, which normally receives a commission or
fee for these activities. Revenue from trading business
is recognised at the point in time when the control
of the merchandise has been transferred when the
goods are delivered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes and financial asset at amortised
cost calculated using effective interest method.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset, after deduction of the loss allowance.

2.22 LEASES

As a lessee

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has changed its
accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee.
The new policy is described below and the impact of the
change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 March 2019, leases in which a significant portion
of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease. Contingent rental arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BARETHIEME @)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 LEASES (Continued) 222 FHE (&)

As a lessee (Continued)

From 1 April 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which
the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 LEASES (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 LEASES (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs, and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the

shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

2.23 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
values when there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the Company, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. Because
of the simplicity of the financial structure and the current
operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(@) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the
PRC for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Hong
Kong). Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the individual group companies
and net investment in foreign operations.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their functional currencies. Hence, the
directors of the Company consider the Group does
not have any material foreign exchange risk exposure.
No sensitivity analysis is presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

(c)

risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through
the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing
assets and liabilities. Financial assets and borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. In the opinion of the directors, the
expected change in fair values as a results of change
in market interest rates will not be significant, thus no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes
in market interest rates will impact cash flows arising
from variable rate financial instruments. The Group’s
assets and liabilities, which bear variable interest rates
mainly, include bank deposits. Other Group’s assets
and liabilities, including loan to an associate, financial
assets at amortised cost, bank borrowing and other
borrowing, bear fixed interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, if interest rates
had been 100 basis-points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss after taxation would
have approximately HK$58,000 lower/higher (2019:
HK$192,000 lower/higher).

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate risk to
ensure there are no under exposures to significant
interest rate movements.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loan to an associate and
financial assets at amortised cost included in the
consolidated statement of financial position, which
represent our Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets. Management has
a credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of
credit risk. In general, the credit record and credit
period for each customer or debtor are regularly
assessed based on the customer’s or debtor’s
financial condition, their credit records and other
factors such as current market condition. The Group
applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables from third parties. The Group
overall considers the shared credit risk characteristic
and the days past due of the trade receivables and
contract assets to measure the expected credit
loss. Management, considered among other factors
including forward looking information, analysed
historical pattern. Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, the outstanding trade receivables
as at 31 March 2020 were fully settled by customers
and the expected credit loss of trade receivables
was close to zero for the year ended 31 March 2020
(2019: same).

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The
directors believe there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of
deposits and other receivables and the expected
credit loss was close to zero for the year ended 31
March 2020 (2019: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 TRERERE @
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued) 3.1 £EERER )

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERR (&)

Cash and cash equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash at banks, the
Group only transacts with reputable banks which are
all high-credit-quality financial institutions. There is no
recent history of default in relation to these financial
institutions. The expected credit loss was close to
zero for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: same).

Loan to an associate

The loan to an associate is considered by the
directors to have low credit risk as it has a low risk
of default and the associate has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations. The
expected credit loss was close to zero for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: N/A).

Financial assets at amortised cost

At as 31 March 2020 and 2019, financial assets at
amortised cost represented a listed corporate bond.
The corporate bond is considered by the directors
to have low credit risk as it has a low risk of default
and the issuer of the corporate bond has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations.
The expected credit loss was close to zero for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 RAEREIRE @
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued) 31 e@EREZE (@)
(d) Liquidity risk (d) & EK
The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash to AEEHNBERHERTEHESNA
meet its liquidity and working capital requirements. MEERBESREEEST
jz o
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s EREREBEHRSRAEERAR
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash SERSESFEENEETEA -
equivalents (Note 21) on the basis of expected cash mMERSESFHERBRERE KRR
flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor £ EEY (MiE21) - REBMIK
current and expected liquidity requirements, to ensure RETERERRR RIEHREE
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its THK URBRRERTEER S
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. H OREEEHERRATSES
TR o
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TR E A S BIRIER S 075 E 5
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on REAVEHBMNFL ARSI S
the remaining period at the end of each financial EHBANHAENIN A EED
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The DM RFPBRECEAE LR
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual BRI ME e A R E K]
undiscounted cash flows, except for other borrowing W€ E 2 AR ERER KN
with a repayment on demand clause that is included 2 HMERERIN e BRBEIR &
in the “on demand” time band. Balances due within BAEXN SR+ @A AR
twelve months equal their carrying amounts, as the ZAEBREEREREE-
impact of discounting is not significant.
Between Between
On Less than 1 and 2 2and 5
demand 1 year years years Total
RER DPR-F —EZWMF WELF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 31 March 2020 7202043 A31H
Trade payables 2 e 7E - 14,406 - - 14,406
Other payables and accruals Hfth e 5RIE R EET B 10,005 5,004 - - 15,009
Bank borrowing RITIEN - 11,183 - - 11,183
Other borrowing HoA &R 12,226 - - - 12,226
Lease liabilities HEARE - 26,019 13,859 7,085 46,963
22,231 56,612 13,859 7,085 99,787
At 31 March 2019 M2019%3831H
Trade payables B SR HIA - 3,514 - = 3,514
Other payables and accruals Hiv e RERERER 3,000 3,486 - - 6,486
3,000 7,000 - - 10,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

REMBRERME

3 SriRERERE (&)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued) 31 eRERREZE (@)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) "HEEERE (&)
The table below summarises the maturity analysis TREBARIBEER BETEHZ
of the other borrowing (subject to a repayment WEEREFEK < HMfER (%
on demand clause) based on agreed schedule BEREEGRRBRR) 228D
repayments set out in the loan agreement. The M- BB EFBEAEHFE
amounts include interest payments computed using FTEBF SR
contractual rates.
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2and5 Over
1 year 2 years years 5 years
PR—F —ZWE MERF BBEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT FHT FHET
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H 12,967 - - -

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the net debt
to total equity ratio, which is expressed as a percentage
of total borrowings (including a bank borrowing and an
other borrowing) less cash and cash equivalents over total
equity as shown on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group is in net cash position
(2019: same).
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REMBRRME

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3

3.4

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets,
including loan to an associate, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, financial assets at amortised cost
and cash and cash equivalents, and financial liabilities,
including trade payables, other payables and accruals,
bank borrowing, other borrowing and lease liabilities,
approximate to their fair values due to their short-term
maturities. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is
available to the Group for similar financial instruments,
unless the discounting effect is insignificant.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
There is no material offsetting, enforceable master netting

arrangement and similar agreements as at 31 March 2020
and 2019.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances.

4.1

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation expense for its
property, plant and equipment by reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will adjust the depreciation expense
where useful lives are less than previously estimated.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in useful lives and therefore depreciation expense in
the future periods.

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets have been determined based
on the higher of its value in use or its fair value less
costs of disposal, taking into account latest market
information and past experience. These calculations
and valuations require the use of judgements and
estimates.
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REMBRRME

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area
of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or
net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset in the business; and (i) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow
projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment, including the discount
rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could affect the net present value
used in the impairment test and as a result affect the
Group’s consolidated financial position and results of
operations.

Revenue recognition of trading
business in PRC

Determining whether the Group is acting as a
principal or as an agent in the sales of merchandise
on the Group’s trading business requires judgement
and consideration of all relevant facts and
circumstances. In evaluation of the Group acting
as a principal or an agent, the Group considers,
individually or in combination, whether the Group
control specified good or service before it is
transferred to the customers, is primarily responsible
for fulfilment the contract, is subject to the inventory
risk and has discretion to establish prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, who are the CODM
of the Group, review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed
by the executive directors of the Company that are used to make
strategic decisions.

In previous years, the Group was principally engaged in the
operation of restaurant chains in Hong Kong. Management
reviews the operating results of the business as one segment to
make decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the
executive directors of the Company regard that there is only one
segment which is used to make strategic decisions. Following a
change in the Group’s operating and reporting structure during
the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has two operating
segments (i) Vietnamese-style restaurant business in Hong Kong,
and (ii) trading business in PRC. Trading business is the new
business segment identified during the year.
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GEMBRERME
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WEkoEER (®
(Continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (A) DEBU R R ¥EE
The table below shows the segment information of revenue TREARD WS REEER REBE
and results and there were no revenue or other transactions 202053 H31B LEFE KD b2 [E
between the business segments for the year ended 31 I AU S AR 5
March 2020.
For the year ended 31 March 2020 B E2020F3A31HLLFE
Viethamese-
style
restaurant Trading
business business Total
B EEER BE5EK Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FTEx FEx
Segment revenue 7 #BU 132,947 876,549 1,009,496
Segment cost of revenue 73 #B UL ER P AR (32,967) (870,157) (903,124)
Segment gross profit 2 EER 99,980 6,392 106,372
Segment results D EBHELR (17,830) 3,739 (14,091)
Segment results include: DEBFEEBIE
Impairment loss on property, plant Y- BB REEZ
and equipment BB E 18 (1,182) - (1,182)
Impairment loss on FREEE
right-of-use assets REEE (12,590) = (12,590)
Depreciation and amortisation & i (36,277) - (36,277)
Finance cost, net B & AR AN F R (1,285) (1,504) (2,789)
Finance income, net BB WA FRE 2,034
Depreciation and amortisation ﬁ & ¥ (2,960)
Share of post-tax profit DIEEEERF] 2
of associates R A5 18 Al 3,498
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEEMS (9,023)
Loss before income tax R PS4 A B 18 (20,542)
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Segment assets for operating BEDE 2 D EPEE
segments 68,251 50,515 118,766
Unallocated corporate assets ROMBEEE 123,451
Total assets MEE 242,217
Segment liabilities for operating LEHT 2z DEAEE
segments 66,560 36,195 102,755
Unallocated corporate liabilities RoREEEE 4,159
Total liabilities waE 106,914



5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(A) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRERME

|

5 WEEkDEER (%)

(A) D EBUEE % ¥4& (@)

HE2019F3A31HILEE

Viethamese-

style

restaurant

business

M B R TS

HK$’ 000

T T

Segment revenue 7 B E 171,233

Segment cost of revenue 75 #B ULz X AR (42,027)

Segment gross profit S EBEFI 129,206

Segment result D EBFELE (29,596)
Segment result include: DEBFEEBIE

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment W WERZEREER (5,190)

Depreciation and amortisation e R (12,118)

Finance income BhE WA 1,075

Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEEMZ (9,919

Loss before income tax Br PSR AT B 18 (38,440)

Assets and liabilities EERARE

Segment assets for operating segment LEDE 2 DEBEE 50,196

Unallocated corporate assets ROBBEEE 74,750

Total assets fEEE 124,946

Segment liabilities for operating segment KENH 2 HEEE 30,697

Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko XEE 2,242

Total liabilities BmafE 32,939
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REMBRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(A)

(B)

SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the loss incurred by/profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
depreciation and amortisation, directors’ emoluments,
finance (cost)/income, net and foreign exchange
differences, net. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Revenue by geographic areas is determined based on the
location of customers.

The following tables present revenue from external
customers and certain non-current assets information for
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, by geographical
area.

(i) Revenue from external customers

5

Yo 28

(A)

(B)

|

SNDEEE (&)

B ERESE (&)

RED NS HREXRE ST
RAER - DBRERS D BELENER
//BRER #0348 ) - 36 4% 53 B A R AT UK
REREHE EEME BE (K
AR) /W FRR R SN B S R o
IR ERSEMRRBAFAREIZLE
ERREBRENT R

i & & R
R B B9 W3S TR IR R B T i
M-

T & 2% 8 220204 K201943 31

B ERIE R E DI R P s
RETIHRBEEEF -

() ShEBE U E

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET AT

Hong Kong BB 132,947 171,233
PRC s 876,549 =
1,009,496 171,233
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMHHRRMEE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WKmknzEER @
(Continued)
(B) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued) (B) EEF (&)
(i) Non-current assets (i) ERHEE
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET T
Hong Kong BE 48,851 27,137
The non-current assets information above is based on FaidEmEEEE M IIRIEEE
the locations of the assets and excludes the deferred FriEt s E B W MR IFIRES
income tax assets. MEE -
(C) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM (C) EFEaHlmzsE
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Restaurant operations BERKE 132,947 171,233
Trading business B 5 %% 876,549 -
1,009,496 171,233
During the year ended 31 March 2020, all sources of RE E2020F3A31HILEFE T A
revenue from contracts with customers were recognised at B A AW E 2 HOR TR [ B R
a point in time (2019: same). (2019%F : §H[A) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEMBHRERME
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WEkoEER (®
(Continued)
(D) INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR (D) EBEEXEEFEFZEH
CUSTOMERS
Certain customers of trading business contributed more FN BH¥EB A TEFERMASE
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group during the year. RURFEBI0% - ZERP 2 W e 58
The amount of revenue of these customers are disclosed WEAT:
as follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Customer A ZEA 344,040 N/A & A
Customer B %FB 163,741 N/A 38
N/A: The revenue of the particular customer for the NER NEEEE FERFP 2B
particular year was less than 10% of the Group’s revenue EREEFREASEE K Z210%
for the particular year
6 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAIN 6 HMKA &E A
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Government subsidy (Note) BB (MF5E) 3,560 —
Rental concession related to COVID-19 201978 M Im B 2 10 & R 1,146 -
Others HAt 117 305
Other income H g A 4,823 305
Gain on termination of lease contracts KIFHES Nz W 3,272 =
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BER&E 2B
plant and equipment 74 -
Other gain H b i 5 3,346 -
Other income and other gain N N 8,169 305
Note: The amount represents the subsidy granted by the Hong Kong Wit: BESEIETSBRARMENEESB K

Government under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. T2 HB) e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R HE RN
FINANCE (COST)/INCOME, NET 7 BE (KR WA FERE
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TAT
Finance cost from REMNTEIEZ#E KA
— bank borrowing —RITIER (319) -
— other borrowing —H A g3 (1,185) -
— lease liabilities —HEAaE (1,332) =
(2,836) -
Finance income from KRB THIEZ#@E KA
— bank deposits —RITIF X 348 384
— financial assets at amortised cost —RBHEKATECEREE 494 700
— loan to an associate — [ — A ERBER 1,057 =
— loan to an intermediate holding company — A — A EER A R E K 182 =
2,081 1,084
Finance (cost)/income, net BE (KAR) A F5E (755) 1,084
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REMBRRME

8 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging/

Bk T 15 B¢ Al 5 18

BRETSHATBR ARG, (FFARTH

(crediting): RBEN:
2020 2019
20204 20194F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
B &E FEx T
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 24 RiD 357 B
- Audit services — &R 2,450 1,700
- Non-audit services — kB IR 282 903
Cost of food and beverages B o kB AR 32,967 42,027
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKAE 870,157 =
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BEREREITE
equipment 14 6,055 12,115
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 25(a) 33,179 —
Employee benefit expenses EERARAL 9 49,319 58,350
Impairment loss on property, Y BB M& B
plant and equipment ZOBEEE 14 1,182 5,190
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets A& EE 2 REEIE 25(a) 12,590 -
Lease payments under operating leases tih RIZFEETHE THY
in respect of land and buildings: MERK:
— Minimum lease payments —&EBEERK - 45184
— Contingent rental — A2 - 11
— Provision for onerous contracts —EEEE Y 2 B - 9,705
Reversal of provision for onerous EEEA R ERED
contracts (109) -
Expenses relating to B TEBEBBENAY !
— short-term leases —RHHEE 1,820 -
— variable lease payments — A EHEERRK 51 -
Loss on write-off of property, HEE Y E BB KR E
plant and equipment el ki 367 1,266
Foreign exchange differences, net MEHZR F5 26 16
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9

DIRECTOR’S EMOLUMENTS)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

B B REAIF X (B E F

%)

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Basic salaries, bonus, allowances and EARFH 104 2K

other benefits in kind H {th B )43 1 47,292 56,075
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIKES A — A EHRETE 2,027 2,275
49,319 58,350

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS EEBRESHFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group does not include any directors (2019: two) of the
Company whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown
in Note 10. The emoluments payable to the remaining five (2019:
three) individuals during the year are as follows:

AEEREERFTMATETREEFRAR
AIEE (2019F : MiA)  FEMES 2FBE
R 1025 2 TR - F R B H
AR (2019F : =H) AL ZBE 0T -

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Salaries, bonus, allowances and o JEAL  ERR R H M EYE A

other benefits in kind 3,090 1,987
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRIRE KA — R B HRGTE 90 54
3,180 2,041

The emoluments fell within the following bands: B R UATEE :
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$1 to HK$1,000,000 17 70 £1,000,0007% 7T 5 8
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REMBRRME

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(A) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of every director during the year is set out

10 EE@EHEF=
A) E=HE
FR SEEZHFMBIIMT

168

below:
Employer’s
retirement
Allowances benefit
and benefit Discretionary scheme
Fees Salaries in kind bonuses contributions Total
)39 B RHEEA
ne Fi BNEF MERA TR @zt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TERT TET TER
Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z2020F3A31H
LEE
Executive directors HITEF
Ms. Li Jia FELZ L - 130 - - 6 136
Mr. Lu Shenghong BBALLE - 130 - - 6 136
Mr. Wat Tat Fei (Note (i) BERLE (FTEEG) - 10 - - 1 11
Mr. Wu Jiangtao RIBEE - 130 - - 6 136
Mr. Tao Jingyuan (Note (v)) Bk iE st A (MiaEGy) - 8 - - 1 9
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr. Wong Stacey Martin BREALE - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUHNITEE
Mr. Cheung Miu FMEAE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Cheung Pak To RIAM &£ 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy. BFHREE 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Ko Po Ming RERLE 360 - - - - 360
1,440 408 - - 20 1,868
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REMBRERME

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10 EFEAMN KA )

(Continued)

(A) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (A) EEBS (@)

Employer's
retirement
Allowances benefit
and benefit  Discretionary scheme
Fees Salaries in kind bonuses  contributions Total
2R EEEHET
e ¢ EhEd eyl AHEIfER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT THL FAT FAT FAT
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZE2019%3A31H
LtEE
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Wong Che Kin BEEREE - 750 - - 5 755
Ms. Wong Chui Ha Iris BERELL - 150 - - 5 155
Ms. Li Jia FELZ L - 88 - - 5 93
Mr. Lu Shenghong BBALEE - 88 - - 5 93
Mr. Wat Tat Fei (Note (i) BEREE (FzE() - 88 - - 5 93
Mr. Wu Jiangtao RIBEE - 88 - - 5 93
Non-executive director FNTEE
Mr. Cheung Wai Chi REEELE 48 - - - - 48
Mr. Wong Stacey Martin BREAKE - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUHNITEE
Mr. Cheung Yui Kai Warren REERE 48 - - - - 48
Prof. Lai Kin Keung BEBRHAK 48 - - - - 48
Mr. Lui Hong Peace BREE 48 - - - - 48
Mr. Cheung Miu RMEAE 265 - - - - 265
Mr. Cheung Pak To RIAM &£ 265 - - - - 265
Mr. Choi Tze Kit Sammy. BFHREE 265 - - - - 265
Mr. Ko Po Ming =EREE 265 - - - - 265
1,252 1,252 - - 30 2,534
Note: Bt 5
0] Resigned as the executive director of the Company with effective [0) BEARARRIZHMITES 52019944
from 30 April 2019. 0B BAER
(ii) No directors waived any emolument during the years (2019: Nil). (ii) FRMEEERET(AIE (20195
&) o
(i) ~ No emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person @iy BIERBBAATEIESELEmMD Ak
accepting office as a director are to be treated as emoluments FEU 2 Bl & iR R VERE 2 A TR EE S
paid or receivable in respect of that person’s services as a mE s ER 2B -
director.
(v)  Appointed as the executive director of the Company with vy EEZEARRARZHITES  H2020F

effective from 6 March 2020. SHEGRBERK -
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20204 £ 3R 169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(B)

(€)

(D)

(E)

DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND
TERMINATION BENEFITS

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services
to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

CONSIDERATION PROVIDED TO THIRD
PARTIES FOR MAKING AVAILABLE
DIRECTORS’ SERVICES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company did
not pay any consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2019: Nil).

INFORMATION ABOUT LOANS, QUASI-
LOANS AND OTHER DEALINGS IN FAVOUR
OF DIRECTORS, CONTROLLED BODIES
CORPORATE BY AND CONNECTED
ENTITIES WITH SUCH DIRECTORS

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
entered into by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of
the Company, where applicable, in favour of the directors,
or body corporate controlled by or entities connected with
any of the directors at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2019: Nil).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2019: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBHRERMEE
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 IEHAX
The amount of tax charged/(credited) to the consolidated Riga 2mERERMEG S (GEA) 258
statement of comprehensive income represents: g :
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER AT
Current income tax expense BVERFR 15 i i 2
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER
— Provision for current year —REFZEE 129 386
— Over-provision in prior year —BEFRBRERE (56) (173)
— The PRC corporate income tax (“‘CIT”) — B EERREH
(T BEBEMMEH]) 287 -
Deferred income tax expense EREFTS T
- Hong Kong — BB (695) 4,283
— The PRC withholding tax — BRI 763 -
428 4,496

Hong Kong profits tax is levied at progressive rate of 8.25%
on the estimate assessable profit below HK$2,000,000
and thereafter at a fixed rate at 16.5% for the year (2019:
same).

The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged
on assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the cities in the PRC in which the Group
operates. The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the
PRC is 25%, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
subject to reduced preferential CIT rate ranging from 5% to
10% for Small Low-profit Enterprises.

According to applicable tax regulations prevailing in the
PRC, dividends distributed by a company established
in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding tax. As at 31 March 2020, the
Group recognised deferred tax liabilities amounting to
HK$763,000 of the withholding tax on undistributed profits
of the PRC associate.

NEE BB G T 5t {E R 2,000,000
BT Z AT EREG AR R X
8.25% & M - BE 18 1% B 7E T E16.5%
(20194 : FH[A)) Bk -

FEGERERIEFNRAEBE RS
B 2 75 BT 1E &5 (B3 T BR. 17 7 6 Bt P AR
ot T U 2 B8 - AR R BB A
AR E B25%  HEAREER THEBA
A A B /N R Z T AR TE%E
10% 2 BUR BB TS BIB REB

BIEFPEBRITEANRBEHRE  RPEHE
X S B0 R (A1 3E AME B & R 15 752008
F1 818 2 % BRELA T AT E & M B
8 15 51 0% /Y T8 31 i © 720204 3

A3 - AEEgF SRR 2K
JL’E/mZL'JZi‘E?NRﬁEW L%RIE\E\%\

763,000/ 7T
RE8IRHERBR A A

20205F— £}
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical

FTiSfimA s (@)
AN 2 0 B AT S B A A 0 T 4 R PR A

amount that would arise using the respective tax rates as follows:

BEMELHEHLBERR  MTHR:

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHER T

Loss before income tax B ATEE (20,542) (38,440)
Calculated at respective tax rates LB ETE (4,422) (6,508)
Income not subject to taxation BRI A (1,135) (200)
Over-provision in prior year B FEBERE (56) (173)
Expenses not deductible for DR

taxation purposes 424 2,185
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax It & R IR ST TE B E Y

assets has been recognised RE)ATIEE B 4,881 3,596
Temporary difference of property, plant and WERRELEHBEEZ

equipment for which no deferred tax asset M WE REENERERE

has been recognised (36) 1,260
Temporary difference of right-of-use assets WERBERELEHRIBEEE

for which no deferred tax asset has been FRAEEENERER

recognised 9 =
Temporary difference of undistributed profits &2 7R BB ‘& A &) 2

of PRC associate recognised R 3 IR 5 I A B RS = KR 763 -
Derecognition of deferred income tax assets ~ FLBA RN AEAHIEEE

in respect of unused tax losses recognised RIETERELEMSHIEEE

previously - 3,766
Derecognition of deferred income tax assets ~ BBEEHERNYE  BE K&

in respect of temporary difference of RN TR R I ERIEL

property, plant and equipment recognised FriSti & E

previously - 570
Income tax expense FriS i X 428 4,496

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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DIVIDENDS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

12 IRB

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for BEES T EZREZ2020F3A31H LFE

the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: same).

LOSS PER SHARE

IRAHERIAZ S (20194 : #B[A)) °

13 BIEE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable NN B R R FE AL B IR AR R S S48 T IR DA
to shareholders of the Company is based on the following data. TEURETE -

(A) BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to shareholders of the Company by the

(A BEREXEE
BREABREAR R RREGER
BRI B BT AR 2 MR T 8

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during TE
the year.
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT T
Loss attributable to shareholders of RATRRELEE (FHT)
the Company (HK$’000) (20,937) (42,936)
Weighted average number of ordinary B BITEERINE T
shares in issue (thousands) (Note) (F8&) (BzE) 855,216 800,000
Basic loss per share SREREE (ZRBW)
(HK cents per share) (2.45) (5.37)

Note: The weighted average number of shares in issue for the year
ended 31 March 2019 for the purpose of loss per share
computation have retrospectively adjusted for the effect of
subdividing 200,000,000 ordinary shares into 800,000,000

ordinary shares on 27 August 2018.

(B) DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

For the year ended 31 March 2020, diluted loss per share
equalled basic loss per share as there was no dilutive

potential share (2019: same).

MizE: Bist ESRAEEM S B E201943A8
31 L FEMEBITRM MEFHEHE
201848 27 H #200,000,0000%
38 IR 9 7% 800,000,000/ 3 37 A% 7
HEBWRE-

(B) BRR#EREE
H Z=2020F3A31 0 IEF /& - A E
BIEEERD  NEREEEESENEG
AR EAEE (20194 : 48R °

RERIRHERAR QA
20204 F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 W% -WENMEE

Restaurants
and Furniture
Leasehold kitchen Computer and Office Motor
improvements equipment equipment fixtures equipment vehicles Total
£ER
HERE HERE BiRE KAREE  BAERE RE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T THT THET T THT TET
At 31 March 2018 #201853A31A
Cost KA 26,239 13,686 3,124 12,794 885 1,660 58,388
Accumulated depreciation 278 (16,942) (8,255) (1513) (6,348) (181) (966) (34,20)
Net carrying amount RHFE 9,97 5,431 1,611 6,446 704 694 24,183
Year ended 31 March 2019 HE2019F3A31A
LLEE
Opening net carrying amount EREFE 9,207 5,431 1,611 6,446 704 694 24,183
Additions "E 3,035 1,746 1,118 1,307 10 = 7216
Wiite-off s (694) (129) (70) (295) ) = (1,266)
Depreciation it 4 (4,448) (3,008) (1,081) (3,213 (158) (167) (12,115)
Provision for impairment RERE (2,686) (886) - (1,618) - - (5,190)
Closing net carrying amount FREDFE 4,504 3,064 1,628 2,627 478 527 12,828
At 31 March 2019 #201953831A
Cost A 24,082 14,077 3918 11,864 729 1,660 56,330
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZAMERME (19,578) (11,013 (2,290) (9,237) (251) (1,133 (43,502
Net carrying amount FEFE 4,504 3,064 1,628 2,627 478 527 12,828
Year ended 31 March 2020 HE2020F3A3MBLEE
Opening net carrying amount FNREFE 4,504 3,064 1,628 2,627 478 521 12,828
Effect on adoption of HKFRS 16 BB BB Rt EAE R FE (344) - - - - - (344)
4,160 3,064 1,628 2,627 478 527 12,484
Additions NE 934 856 91 352 - - 2,233
Wiite-off s (17) (218) (35) (1) - - (441)
Depreciation bk (1,746) (1,924) (762) (1,337) (128) (158) (6,055)
Provision for impairment HERE (422) (233) (69) (172) (286) - (1,182
Closing net carrying amount EXREAFE 2,749 1,545 853 1,459 64 369 7,039
At 31 March 2020 #202053A31A
Cost A 17,168 12,220 3,431 10,593 618 1,044 45,074
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZAHERAE (14,419) (10,675) (2,578) (9,134) (554) (675) (38,035)
Net carrying amount EHFE 2,749 1,545 853 1,459 64 369 7,039
Note: P EE

Write-off of property, plant and equipment in respect of shop closure of
approximately HK$9,741,000 and HK$9,300,000 (2019: HK$9,275,000 and
HK$8,009,000) have been charged to cost and accumulated depreciation,

respectively.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRERMEE
15 ASSOCIATES 15 B & R 7A]

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT TAT
Investments in associates (Note (i) REEE QN REE (M) 71,096 =
Loan to an associate (Note (ii)) m—EEE & A s 'R (B EEi)) 15,000 -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Movements in the investments in REEE N AR EE ST

associates are as follows:

At the beginning of the year ) - =
Additions NE 67,598 -
Share of post-tax profit of associates DAEEEE N B) 2 BB % T 3,498 =
At the end of the year RER 71,096 -

RERIRHERAR QA
20204 F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

15 ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Set out below is the associate of the Group as at 31 March 2020
and 2019 which, in the opinion of the directors, is material to the
Group. The associate as listed below has share capital consisting
solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group;
the country of incorporation or registration is also their principal

place of business.

15 B¥& R A ()
AR &, 51| 7320204 2201943 A31 HE £

BEAEEMS
ezl
AEBEEERFE:

4 kN
RN

MRETEERME-

EEDN:RN el oNSIE
AINRANEREEER B
AR AL SR AT E B K

Nature of investments in associates at the reporting date: RBEBH REE AN ENEE R
T
Place of Particulars Interest held Interest held
incorporation/ of issued directly at directly at
Name operation share capital 31 March 2020 31 March 2019  Principal activity
R20205 1420195
L, 3A31A 3A31R
18 gemH ERTRAFE EEFENEZ HERANER TEERTH
Beijing Minshang ZhiHui PRC RMB50,000,000 50% N/A Providing
E-commerce Co., Limited e-commerce
(“Minshang Zhihui”) (Note (i) related service in
PRC
TRRBEEEETHEHB alE AR 50% TER RPBEREEFE
ARAR (TREEE]) 50,000,0007T B iR
(PREER)
Note: B 5 -

(i) On 24 April 2019, the Group completed the acquisition of MSEC
Investment Limited (“MSEC”). MSEC in turn indirectly hold 50% equity
interest in tRREEEREFEBERD
Minshang Zhihui is principally engaged in technology and e-commerce
related business with a focus on its scenario marketing system and
supply chain management capability to provide various banks, financial

Al (“Minshang Zhihui”).

institutions and sizable corporations with e-commerce.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

)

(Continued)

The consideration was settled by way of issuance of 58,918,182
shares by the Company to the Vendor. Following the completion of the
transaction, the Group holds 50% equity interest in Minshang Zhihui
and is entitled to appoint two out of four directors in Minshang Zhihui.
Voting decisions of the board are made by a simple majority. The
Group is not able to exercise more than half of the voting power and it
cannot control any board decisions. Therefore, Minshang Zhihui is not
a subsidiary of the Group. However, since the Group can demonstrate
significant influence over Minshang Zhihui, the investment in Minshang
Zhihui should be recognised as an investment in associate.

The investment in the Minshang Zhihui will be accounted for using the
equity method whereby the investment is initially recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results will be recognised in
profit or loss.

The Group engaged an independent valuer to perform the notional
purchase price allocation. The notional goodwill arises from the
recognition of the investment in Minshang Zhinui is calculated based on
the difference between the total consideration paid and the share of fair
value of the net assets of Minshang Zhinui at the date of completion.

15 K

REMBRERME

Yy M -
A=/NCIRE -3

s (&)

)

(%&)

RABTIAR A BIAE 5 #1758,918,182/% A {5
ZHRNEM -REXRS%E AEEHEERE
BES0%MIE  THERNONEREEEESH
MR ES - EFSZRERATEUBERY
HEL - ANEETITEBR—F 2R
IAAEGERNESESRE At REER
WIEARER 2 BT A HRAERA
%’TEW”E&E%EK%’;W BONEEE e
RERERBRBE AR ZIRE -

REBEBZREBEREDEALR Mz
B RYNRRATER

AEBEDIEWBEREES

AEBZEBE I (GEMAETEEEEED
- BRANREEEZREELZAERE
TRBER TR ARZENEREENERE
BEREEFEZANBEZERAE

The notional goodwill of Minshang Zhihui is as follows: REEECEEBENT:
HK$'000
FHT
Share consideration DR 64,810
Cost of acquisition 1t fi i AN 2,788
Total consideration BRE 67,598
Share of the fair value of net assets (excluding intangible assets D 1HEEFHBZ AAEE (TEE NIEREE)
listed below) (21,130)
Share of the intangible assets: DB EE -
— Software —B (12,055)
— Customer relationship —BFPEIR (11,123)
Notional goodwill HERE 23,290

The Group granted a loan amounting to HK$15,000,000
to Minshang Zhihui during the year ended 31 March 2020.
The loan is unsecured, interest-bearing at a rate of 8% per
annum and for a term of 24 months from the drawdown
date, with contractual settlement of the loan’s interest
annually.

NEFNE E20209F3 318 ILEE A
R4 =% E 15,000,000 70 ° &
KA R FFE8%:T B - BIRE

E HAREEH AHACAME A - WEEIRAKHE

HERFE -

RERIRHERAR QA
20204 £ 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

15 ASSOCIATES (Continued)

15 B AR (®)

(A) SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (A) —BEEBEQATZMETKEER
FOR AN ASSOCIATE
The table below provide summarised financial information TRIEHRESAREAEEMEEE
for Minshang Zhihui that, in the opinion of director, is AZERREBEZHERMBER  BFEA
material to the Group and is accounted for using the equity AN
method.
2020
20204
HK$’000
FERT
Current B
Total current assets MEEERE 337,206
Total current liabilities ne B EER (275,527)
Non-current IR E
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 57,077
Total non-current liabilities JEmEBERTE (28,866)
Net assets BEFE 89,890
Opening net assets BB EFE 88,616
Profit for the year F R A 6,996
Currency translation difference INEHME ERE (5,722)
Closing net assets BIRE EFE 89,890
Direct equity interest held s B 2 B IxiE 50%
Share of interest held by Group REBHB L BERNE 44,945
Revenue Wz 452,975
Profit and total comprehensive income A R 2 E K E A R 6,996

The information above reflects the amounts presented in

the consolidated financial statements of Minshang Zhuhui

(and not Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited’s

share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in

accounting policies between the Group and the associate.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBHRERMEE
16 INVENTORIES 16 &

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET

Food and consumables for BEEBH
restaurant operations BB m 1,855 2,098
Inventories for trading business BoEBHEE 112 =
1,967 2,098
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in BREAI LT AGZEEARERA [Rm
‘cost of food and beverages’ and ‘cost of inventories sold’ in the REBIRA | R [EEFENA] MFERA
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, amounting & B8 #9 A32,967,0007% 7T %870,157,0007%
to approximately HK$32,967,000 and HK$870,157,000, 7T (2019%F : 7 Bl 342,027,000/ T R ZE ) °

respectively (2019: HK$42,027,000 and Nil, respectively).
17 TRADE RECEIVABLES 17 B 5 WA

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTEx T
Trade receivables 2 5 EWFIE 46,896 639

EH AR AR A
202055 179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

17 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables represent receivables from restaurant
operations and trading business. The credit period granted to
trade customers was within 1-45 days. The aging analysis of the

trade receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

g 7 B FIE (8)

B RUGRAERRERKERE XM
BRR-GTEZEPHNEEH/IEIXR
We B 5 RKFIAENER A BB RE DT

LINE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$ 000

F#&T AT

Less than 30 days DH30K 46,888 639
31 to 60 days 31260k - =
61 to 90 days 61290K (] -
Over 90 days B 90K 2 =
46,896 639

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to their R2020F3A31H B 5 %K 2 IREEEE
fair values as at 31 March 2020 and are denominated in the RAEBERE  WIRATEEFE
following currencies:

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TET

HK$ BT 551 639
Renminbi (‘RMB”) ARB (TARK]) 46,345 -
46,896 639

REE2020F3A31H I FE  #ERERR
E/E18 (2019F : FHR) - B E 5 fE i IE
BEZ B 2K 5E3.1(0) °

No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2020 (2019: same). Information about the impairment of
trade receivables could refer to Note 3.1(c).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was RS BE Z & m s BR R A Ll fE R
the fair value of the receivables mentioned above. /Ny K=

180 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBHRERMEE
18 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18 AN FKIB - ke R H Mt R U FRIB
RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFAT
Prepayments TE 3IE 2,971 5,298
Rental and utilities deposits HehhBEEES 15,822 19,308
Other receivables E {th jE 5k IB 4,851 =
23,644 24,606
Less: non-current portion R FERNERER
- Rental and utilities deposits — ek AAEEES (10,133) (11,512)
— Prepayments for business acquisition — XU 2 B ROE
(Note) (FEE) - (2,788)
Current portion BIEA R 75 13,511 10,306
Note: The balance represented prepaid legal and professional fee in relation M5t AR EIEMSECERMTENERREESR
to the acquisition of MSEC. e
The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other MR2020F3 A31H « TN IR - I2& R EAbE
receivables approximate to their fair values as at 31 March 2020 WA REEEE AR EBEREL AT
and are denominated in the following currencies: BHEHE -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET AT
HK$ B TT 21,228 24,206
RMB AR 2,416 400
23,644 24,606

EH AR AR A
202045 181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=8

e

MR R M

FINANCIAL ASSET AT AMORTISED COST

As at 31 March 2020, the balance represented an unsecured
corporate bond issued by China Tonghai International Financial
Limited, which is an independent third party of the Group. The
corporate bond was issued at par value of HK$15,000,000
(2019: HK$35,000,000) with interest bearing at 7.5% (2019:
7.25%) per annum and repayable on the maturity date of 12
June 2020 (2019: 23 April 2019). Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, the maturity date of the corporate bond has
been extended to 11 September 2020.

2]

BEHEKN AT EZEHEE
MR2020%F3H31H  ErEARA S B — BB
FE-HPRBEERERERAREITIE
IR BE S o A AEFH K HE 15,000,000
7 7T (20194F : 35,000,000/ 7T ) B 17 ~ # 4F
F K7 5% (20194 : 7.25% ) 5t B K 1A 5| HA
H2020%6 8128 (20194 : 201944 A 23
H)EE -RREHERE  ArES 2
HEEL R ZE2020F9H11H

20 SUBSIDIARIES 20 MiE A
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries with major operations as 20205 K2019F3A31H  EE [ B A A
at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are shown as follows: L EEREE BT
Issued and
Place of incorporation and Date of fully paid Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation share capital Effective interest held place of operation
BEfT
£R MBI BEREEERER Bk BRBA RUTFERENERER TEEHREEHH
2020 2019
2020% 2019%
Directly held subsidiaries:
EERERNKEAR:
Prosperity One Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liability company 15 March 2016 US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRERAE AREMRA 2016937158 1005 100% 100% REER
MSCT Management Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 3 October 2018 HKS$1 100% 100%  Provision of management service
in Hong Kong
REANERARAR BE AREEAR 2018510A3A 1T 100% 100%  EBRBREEERSE
MSCT Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liability company 5 October 2018 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
RBRXEE AREMLA 20184510458 e 100% 100% REZRR
MSC-Tech Investment Holdings British Virgin Islands, limited liability company 8 October 2018 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
SEREES ARALAT 2018%510A8H E 100% 100%  RERR
MSC-Tech Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, limited liability company 8 October 2018 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
SEREES ARALAR 2018%510A8H E 100% 100%  REERR

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

P =
REMBREWEE
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20 B XAA) (&)
Issued and
Place of incorporation and Date of fully paid Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity incorporation share capital Effective interest held place of operation
BETR
8 AR ISR EEERER A B8 HRRA RATEERANERER TEEHREEHE
2020 2019
20205 20195
Indirectly held subsidiaries:
BEEANKEAR:
333 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 7 May 2004 HK$100 100% 100%  Ownership of trademark
3BERAH A BREMRT 2004F5A7A 10077 100% 100% EEHE
Goody Limited Hong Kong, limited fiability company 5 June 2003 HK$100 100% 100%  Ownership of trademark
EEBRAT A BREMRT 200356758 10077 100% 100% HEHE
111 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 29 November 2005 HK$1,000 100% 100%  Provision of catering management
service in Hong Kong
MARAR BE AREEAR 2005511 A29R 1,000 7T 100% 100% EEAREEREERE
Aero Tech Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 3 February 2006 HK$100 100% 100%  Food factory
BEARLT FA ARRMELT 200662738 1007 100% 100% R@E
Prosino Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 15 June 2006 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
FRERAR BB AREEAR 2006464150 10087 100% 100% HEERLSEE
Unlimit Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 15 March 2007 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
ERERAR BE AREEAR 2007434150 10,000% 7T 100% 100% HEERLSEE
Dotco Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 20 September 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
SHERAR BE AREEAR 200649 A20A 10,000% 7T 100% 100% HEERLSEE
Hotex Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 27 June 2003 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
CHRERRAR BE AREEAR 2003%6A27H 10087 100% 100% HEERLSEE
Sydney Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 18 January 2007 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
SRERAR BE AREEAR 200751A18H 10,000% 7T 100% 100% HEERLSEE
Printech Corporation Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 24 January 2008 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
miEERAT FA ARRMELF 2008517248 10,0007 100% 100% HEEEREEE
Tri-pros Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 24 February 2009 HK$300,000 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
ZHERAR BE AREEAR 200952A24A 300,000/ T 100% 100% HEERLSEE
555 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 7 May 2004 HK$100 100% 100%  Restaurants operation in Hong Kong
566 R AR BE AREEAR 2004%5A7H 10087 100% 100% HEERLESEE
Richfield Development Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 26 June 1998 HK$100 100% 100%  Trading of ingredients in Hong Kong
[ERERERAT Bk BREERA 1998%6A26F 10087 100% 100% HEEELERHES
MSEC Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 30 October 2018 HK$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BE AREEAR 20185104308 1,000 7T 100% 100%  REER
RAAH (ZR)EFEBAERAE The PRC (imited liabiity company under 21 May 2019 Registered 100% - Trading business
the law of the PRC) capital
RMB10,000,000,
fully paid
TE (REPEERZARRERR) 201958218 BREMER 100% - B5%H
ARE
10,000,00007C
RE&IR (BR)EEABAR  The PRC (imited liabilty company under 24 June 2019 Registered 70% - Trading business
the law of the PRC) capital
RMB2,000,000,
fully paid
HE (REREERZERRERH) 201956/24R BE 0% - B5%%
AARHE
2,000,007

RERIRHERAR QA
20204 £ 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21 B hIBEEEW

2020 2019
20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TAT

Cash on hand FHERE® 324 346
Cash at banks RITHE S 28,157 47,815
Total Bt 28,481 48,161

At 31 March 2020, the maximum exposure to credit risk of
the Group is cash at banks, amounting to approximately
HK$28,157,000 (2019: HK$47,815,000).

R2020F3A31H  AEBEGENESEE
& & & #) 4 5828,157,000/% 7T (20194 :

47,815,000/ 70 ) R ERTTIR & ©

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHERT T T
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in: ATHE®EGENR e R
REFZFEY:
HK$ BIT 26,839 48,161
RVB AR 1,642 -
28,481 48,161

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The effective interest rate on time deposits
is 1.67% for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: 1.17%). The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

BITRESEBREST BRITTERFARTENF
B) Al K5t B o & 20203 A31H L F E
TE 2117 50 B B R % B1.67% (20194 -
1.17% )  SRITHEBR TN EE 2 ZE B

BB L) RCERAVERTT ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBHRERMEE
22 TRADE PAYABLES 22 BHENMFIA
An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the RRERRNE ZENHIBENEZHHL
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: RO T
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx T T
0-30 days 0£30K 14,406 3,514
The trade payables are non-interest bearing with payment terms B REMNFIBEATE  BNFH—MKA30
of 30 days in general. X
The carrying amounts of the trade payables approximate to their BN RBZ RAEREEAREERES
fair values and are denominated in the following currencies: WiRA T E¥EETHE -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T T
HK$ BT 2,636 3,514
RMB AR 11,770 -
14,406 3,514

REAIRHERAR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

23 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

23 H A AT T IE M T E A

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Accrued employee benefit expenses EEHE BB 2,867 4,771
Provision for long service payment RHERE B & 1,160 1,060
Provision for unutilised annual leave REAFREME 340 858
Provision for reinstatement costs (Note (a)) BRERAEE (HEa@) 3,145 3,747
Provision for effective rental BT EAE - 2,375
Provision for onerous contracts EBEEE N2 BiE - 9,705
Amount due to a former executive director BN — R B MITE S HIA
(Note () (MIE(o)) 10,000 3,000
Amount due to the immediate holding FERT BB A R FRIE
company (Note (c)) (MI5E(e)) 5 -
Others B, 5,004 3,486
22,521 29,002
Less: non-current portion R JEBNHEAER o
— Provision for reinstatement costs (Note ()  — 18R & B &4 (Mzk@)) (1,946) (2,249)
— Provision for effective rental —ERBEEE - (1,221)
Current portion BNEA B 75 20,575 25,532

The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals
approximate to their fair values and are mainly denominated in

HKS.

Note:

(a) Provision for reinstatement costs

Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as

HibENFANE BRANKREEEE QR

EERE YEEABTFE.

GEE

ERBERRE

AEENERERBRENEEHIT

follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
At the beginning of the year REH 3,747 4,178
Provision during the year FREE 369 360
Actual costs paid BENERER (971) (791)
At the end of the year RER 3,145 3,747

(b) Amount due to a former executive director

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c) Amount due to the immediate holding company

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEEMBHRERMEE

24 BORROWINGS 24 &K
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FiHET
Bank borrowing (Note (a)) RITER (MI5E(@)) 10,895 —
Other borrowing (Note (b)) E &K (MEED)) 12,226 —
23,121 -

The carrying amount of the bank borrowing and other borrowing

were denominated in RMB.

Note:

(@

In September 2019, RE &I} (2% ) E F R AR 2 7, a subsidiary
of the Company has entered into a loan facility with the Shanghai
Pudong Development Bank in PRC, the total available amount
under the facility is RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$10,917,000) of which RMB9,980,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$10,895,000) were drawn down as at 31 March 2020 with an
interest rate of 5.87% per annum for a term of one year. The unutilised
facilities as at the same date amounted to approximately RMB20,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$22,000).

The loan is guaranteed by Minsheng E-Commerce Holdings (Shenzhen)
Limited, the ultimate holding company of the Company.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s bank borrowing is contractually due
for repayment within one year, amounting to RMB9,980,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$10,895,000).

Other borrowing of RMB11,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,226,000) was provided by dt R R EIBEHEGR A 7], a fellow
subsidiary of the Company. The borrowing is unsecured, bearing an
interest rate of 8% per annum for a term of one year and repayable on
demand.

RN H A0 E R 2 BREEIA ARG

R2019F9 8 A ARIMB AR R &I (2
B)EFTRAKERARERFRZ E/EBR
BRIBTIVERBRE REETN2AFHA
I & %8 A AR ¥10,000,0007T (HBE KA
10,917,000/ 7t ) * & A K %9,980,0007T
(HHE 7 4910,895,0007% 7T ) E 7202043 A 31
AiRE FFIR 5587% AH—F - REAZ
REVFARLE @K A AR 20,0007t (FHE R
#922,0007 7T ) °

ZERTyB AR R R
B CRIN) R R RIFER o

BRARRAEEEHE

K2020F3A31H ' RIEA L AEBE ZR1T
BERAR—FRNEE £ 5 AR%9,980,000
7t (#8E 1 #910,895,000 7T ) ©

H {8 3k A R#11,200,0007T (HHE R4
12,226,000/ 7T ) J3 R AN A &) [| i B A 71k
RERBERBRBEERARRE - ZERAER
R ERE8%ET B BE—F  WAKREXR
Efe

jD

;H]

ERIRHERBR A

202051’— k3 iﬁ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRERME

25 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 25 FRAREENKMHEARE
LIABILITIES
(A) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE (A REEMBRRRBERZEHE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the REUBRARBTNEBHEEZ S
following amounts relating to the leases: R
2020
20204
HK$’000
FERT
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Initial recognition as at 1 April 2019 (Note 2.2) R2019F4 81 B ¥R (MiE2.2) 34,535
Additions B 45,538
Lease modification HEEH (2,630)
Depreciation e (33,179)
Provision for impairment B S (12,590)
Closing carrying amount FRIEEE 31,674
Lease liabilities HEAE
Initial recognition as at 1 April 2019 (Note 2.2) R2019F4 A1 B ¥R (H7F2.2) 46,162
Additions NE 45,169
Lease modification HEBN (5,902)
Payments 3R (40,959)
Interest expenses FERFX 1,332
At 31 March 2020 HR2020F3 A31H 45,802
Of which are: Heprm:
Current lease liabilities mEHEAR 25,248
Non-current lease liabilities ERBHEEEE 20,554
45,802

188 Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(B) AMOUNTS RECOGNISED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REMBRERME

25 FHEEEAEEEE®

(B) REEE2HENERER 2R

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income FErHKERENEEEE 22
shows the following amounts relating to the leases: R

2020

20204

HK$’000

FEx

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 33,179

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEREER 12,590

Interest expenses FE R 1,332

Expenses relating to short-term leases EHEHEE 2HX 1,820
Variable lease payments not included in HEBEFEVEREL

the measurement of lease liabilities A RSN R 51

Rental concession related to COVID-19 (Note (i) 2019 MMim S m 2 T & e E (BIRE()) 1,146

Gain on termination of lease contracts (Note (ii)) BLIEFAE A X 2 Was (MEREG)) 3,272

(i) The amount represents the rental concession granted by the
landlord to the Group in relation to COVID-19.

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had mutually
agreed with the landlord to terminate several lease contracts.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities had been adjusted due
to the lease modification amounted to HKD2,630,000 and
HKD5,902,000, respectively.

(i

ZEFEEEEH2019BRHEEH X TA
SR E A 2 IRE ©

HE2020F3ABIHILFE  AEEE
HBEFHEBERIEETHEAL A
REEER FREEERMEAREDE
2 Bl 8 %2,630,000/% 7T % 5,902,000/

JT °

RERIRHERAR QA
20204 F 3R
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REMBRRME

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

26 IRIEFT1SHR

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET TAT

Deferred income tax assets RIEFTIS A E 1,096 541
Deferred income tax liabilities BB A (1,046) (423)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during

the year is as follows:

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

FREEMEREEMABNEZHINT

EEFREHERE

Temporary
difference
arising from
property, plant

and equipment Tax losses Total
NE - BER
REEEZ
BRER BEEE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THIT THT
At 1 April 2018 A2018%F4A1H 1,151 3,766 4917
Charged to the consolidated statement of NEHZe2E AR
comprehensive income 610) (3,766) (4,376)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R2019F3A31H k2019F4A1H 541 - 541
Credited to the consolidated statement of FAGERE
comprehensive income WhamR 555 - 555
At 31 March 2020 20203 A31H 1,096 - 1,096

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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FEEMBHRERMEE
26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 26 EEFTIEM (&)
DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES EEFEHEE
Temporary
difference

Undistributed arising from
profits of PRC property, plant

associate and equipment Total
M- BEK
HEIBE A ] REEEZ
ZARABRF HREH Mgt
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT TET
At 1 April 2018 1201854 H1H - 516 516
Credited to the consolidated statement of s+ ALAZH
comprehensive income Wz = (93) (93)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 7201943 A31H
K2019F4A1H - 423 423
Charged/(credited) to the consolidated e/ (GTA)&Ee:2mE
statement of comprehensive income W& 763 (140) 623
At 31 March 2020 20203 A31H 763 283 1,046
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses BEFGHEEDHDAE o HIBEERE
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related RMWLAB AL E B AR RERT R A FRE
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The BT IE 2 AR o AN B B 1] 4588 LA S5 R
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$74,202,000 (2019: 2R P SR A WA Y oK T RR B 1B B3 18 74,202,000
HK$44,626,000) that can be carried forward against future 7 7T (20194F : 44,626,000/ 7T ) ° B K 2K
taxable income. These tax losses have not been recognised due BIR A T E I - AR ax S5 A TE B 1B N R AR
to uncertainty of future realisation. Such tax losses have no expiry ReHEREBEREERA R
date.

EH AR AR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBRERME
27 SHARE CAPITAL 27 MR
Number of Nominal
shares value
& E HE
HK$’'000
T T
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each I {E0.002575 TTAY
T imAR
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4 A1 H 1,000,000,000 10,000
Increased in authorised share capital (Note (a)) VERERRANIE N (M E(a)) 3,000,000,000 =
As at 31 March 2019 and 2020 20194 K202043 531 H 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHZ:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each HF R ®EE0.002578 LAY
A
At 1 April 2018 R2018%F4 81H 200,000,000 2,000
Increase in ordinary shares (Note (a)) LB (k@) 600,000,000 -
As at 31 March 2019 R2019E3A31H 800,000,000 2,000
Issuance of new shares (Note (b)) BT R D (KI5E@)) 58,918,182 147
As at 31 March 2020 20203 A31H 858,918,182 2,147

Note: B &E -
(@  On 27 August 2018, each of the issued and unissued ordinary shares (@)

of par value of HK$0.01 each was subdivided into four ordinary shares

of par value of HK$0.0025 each.
(b) On 24 April 2019, the Group issued 58,918,182 new shares at HK$1.1 (®)

per share, amounting to HK$64,810,000, as the consideration for
the acquisition of MSEC and resulted in approximately HK$147,000
increase in share capital and HK$64,663,000 in share premium.
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MR2018F8A27H - EREE0.01E T 2 B
TRAEZETEBREWFARNREREE

0.0025/8 T 2 E ik o

K2019F4H248 - AEBZ KRBT HE

1758,918,1820% ¥ i% 17

' % ¥H /364,810,000/8

7o {ERWEMSECZ (R 1B - B EAAIE N4
147,000/ 7T & % 17 4 {8 45 1164,663,0007%8
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRRME

28 M 2R 5

(A) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (A) EBEES X5
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial Brére IR mR M E ST EE N -
statements, the Group had the following related party REBNFANRBER T ETTIIRS

transactions during the year:

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
Rental expenses paid and payable to ENREN TS THESRT
— Eternal Prosper Pacific Limited —EEXNFFERAA
(Note (ii)) (B i) ) - 642
— Mr. Wong Che Kin (Note (iii)) — =B A (M aEGi) - 36
— Mrs. Wong Chui Ha (Note (iii)) — =R E 2+ (M) - 77
- 755
Interest income received or B sk FE W R 51 77 B9 FL B A
receivables from
— An associate (Note (iv)) ——fA & A A (K EEGy)) 1,057 -
— An intermediate holding company —— B EERA A (HFEWV)
(Note (v)) 182 =
Interest expenses paid or payable to BT ER Y& ERX
— A fellow subsidiary (Note (iv)) ——ER KB A F (HEEv)) a7 -
— An intermediate holding company — — R AP R A A 1,185 =
Repayment of lease liabilities to an m— MR EIERAREE
intermediate holding company ZHEBE 2,953 -

RERIRHERAR QA
20204 F 3R
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Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(A) TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

Note:

(i)

(v)

(v)

The above transactions were conducted in the normal course of
business and charged at terms mutually agreed by the parties
concerned or in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements, where appropriate.

Eternal Prosper Pacific Limited is controlled by the Mr. Wong
Che Kin and Mrs. Wong Chui Ha, former executive directors of
the Group.

Mr. Wong Che Kin and Mrs. Wong Chui Ha have resigned as the
executive director of the Company on 6 July 2018.

The Group granted a loan amounting to HK$15,000,000 to
Minshang Zhihui during the year ended 31 March 2020. The
loan was unsecured, interest-bearing at a rate of 8% per annum
and for a term of 24 months from the drawdown date, with
contractual settlement of the loan’s interest annually.

The Group granted a loan amounting to HK$13,000,000 to
Running International Limited, an intermediate holding company
of the Company, during the year ended 31 March 2020. The
loan was unsecured, interest-beaning at a rate of 8% per annum
and the loan had been fully settled as at 31 March 2020.

EEREERRFHAER AT, a fellow subsidiary of the
Company, has waived the rental of the office and warehouse for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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28 HEEHH 22X 5 (8)
(A) EEBEBAZXRS (#)

fa -

0

(i

(i)

(V)

(vi)

MRS TR BB ERBRERETRIZ
BRAGTA T HBE 19 7E B0 &Nk AR R 4
e (EA) WIERA -

EEXRFFERARBAEEFINTE
FESBAERERE LR

EEBREAERFRELTHN2018F7
B6ABEARARIZHITES -

REE2020F3A318 I FE ANEH
MR8 =& B 515,000,000 7T

ERERAEEIT REFE8%:TE

B iRE B HB et A 24 A - W B FIZ
A HEFERFE

REE2020F3A31B ILEE ANEE
AR B AR A B E S B AR A
A)#% tH £ % 513,000,000/ 7T 2 B 7K °
ZE R AER R IE8% RS - M
202053 A31H ' ZE R E R EE

o

i

ARFIREMBRARRERE (ZHK)
BEBR A RE # A28 E202053 H31
BIEFEZRAZREAMAE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRERMEE
28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 28 HAfAE S 2 X5 (&)
(B) OUTSTANDING BALANCES WITH RELATED (B) EEEAEE S 2 iH R{EEB &R
PARTIES
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET AT
Amount due to the immediate R EEER AR RIE (FE)
holding company (note i) 5 -
Lease liabilities with an intermediate =G N g
holding company (note ii) ME R E (&) 499 =
Loan to an associate M — B & R R B K 15,000 =
Interest receivables from an associate fE Uy — B A B 2 FI| B 1,057 =
Note: B 5T
0] The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on (i) ZAREBERR & B RARERE
demand. =
(ii) The Group entered a tenancy agreement with Runming (ii) AEFRBEHEERAE (RAAAR
International Limited an intermediate holding company of the H E2020F 128318 IEFE 2 Fh
Company, during the year ended 31 December 2020. R AR R E e
(C) KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION (C) FEEEEH M
For the year ended 31 March 2020, key management BE2020F3HBIAILFE  FEZERE
represents the executive directors of the Group (2019: the [ AREBHNITESE (2019F : REEH
executive directors of the Group). WITESE) °
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group, AREBFTEEEEASNHN (BIELL
including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 10 to BB MEMF 10BN ZESHE)
the consolidated financial statements, is as follows: AR :
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Salaries, bonus allowances and g JEAL  ERR R H M EYE A
other benefits in kind 408 1,252
Pension costs-defined BRIRE KA — R E HRGTE
construction plans 20 30
428 1,282
REaE

AR A R A A
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REMBRRME

29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29 #RA

OF CASH FLOWS

(A) CASH USED IN OPERATIONS (A) REFAERS
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 FHET T T
Loss before income tax BRI AR (20,542) (38,440)
Adjustments for: KEAT %
Impairment loss on property, Y BB K
plant and equipment REREEE 1,182 5,190
Impairment loss FREEEZRBERERE
on right-of-use assets 12,590 -
Provision for onerous contracts EiEEE 4 2 B e - 9,705
Loss on write-off of property, WEEME - BB &
plant and equipment Rz BB 8 367 1,266
Gain on termination of lease WIEHEES X 2 W=
contracts (3,272) -
Depreciation of property, Y- HEREREITE
plant and equipment 8 6,055 12,115
Depreciation of ERAEEENE
right-of-use assets 8 33,179 -
Amortisation of fE A E
intangible assets 3 3
Finance income A WA 7 (2,081) (1,084)
Finance cost Bl & A 7R 7 2,836 =
Share of post-tax profit DMEBE AT 2 BB
from associates il (3,498) -
Operating profit/(losses) before BEECEEF 2 LE
working capital change wm A, (EE) 26,819 (11,245)
Changes in working capital: EEESEE:
Change in inventories GEE# 131 (174)
Change in trade receivables B 5 e W sk IE & (47,369) (639)
Change in prepayments, ENFIE ke k
deposits and other H (b e 5k TR B
receivables (1,072) 4,318
Change in trade payables E o RENFIEEZES) 11,200 (506)
Change in other payables and H b e ZE K
accruals JERTE R E D) 3,936 1,054
Cash used in operations KEMARS (6,355) (7,192)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(B)

(€)

PROCEEDS FROM DISPOSAL OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

REMBHRRME

CEBReRERME @)

(B) HENR BERREZMERK
"
ERERSRBRA WENE KR
KRB B RARE:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Net book amount: AR FE
Property, plant and equipment VI WS KB - -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  KE R&E 2 K
plant and equipment 74 =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE K
plant and equipment. B P = 74 -
NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (C) EEREHER

This section sets out an analysis of net (debt)/cash and the
movement in net debt for each of the years presented.

AEHIZERFEZ (BE) B
FERAEFEEHOM-

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Cash and cash equivalents ReNIREEEY 28,481 48,161
Bank borrowing RITIEN (10,895) -
Other borrowing E b fER (12,226) -
Lease liabilities HEBE (45,802) -
Net (debt)/cash (BfE) ReFHE (40,442) 48,161
Cash and cash equivalents HehIReEEBY 28,481 48,161
Gross debts at fixed interest rate BETEMNERGTE 2 BEE (68,923) —
Net (debt)/cash (BE) R FHE (40,442) 48,161

RERIRHERAR QA
20203’—3’—?5
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REMBRRME

29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29 fRERESRERMTE @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(C) NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (Continued) (C) AEFHEHEK ()

Cash
and cash Bank Other Lease
equivalent borrowing borrowing liabilities Total
BeR
ReZEY ROER HitER HEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET TET
For the year ended B Z2019%3H31H
31 March 2019 LHFE
Net cash as at 1 April 2018 14201854 A1H 2
HeRsE 95,761 - - - 95,761
Net cash flows Rene s (47,600) - - - (47,600)
Net cash as 31 March 2019 7A2019F3A31H 2
HeRs 48,161 - - - 48,161
For the year ended E £202063H31H
31 March 2020 LEE
Net cash as at 1 April 2019 A2019F4H1H 2
He#e 48,161 - - - 48,161
Effect of adoption of RNE BB RE
HKFRS 16 EABIGH T E - - - (46,162) (46,162)
48,161 - - (46,162) 1,999
Net cash flows Reme T8 (19,641) (11,178) (12,545) 39,627 (3,737)
Foreign exchange adjustment SN & 5, 528 (39) 283 319 - 563
Other non-cash movements =4 3E3H 4 % 8
- addition of lease liabilites - AEHEAE - - - (45,169) (45,169)
— gain on lease modification - A EE B - - - 5,902 5,902
Net debt as at R202063H31H 2
31 March 2020 BEFE 28,481 (10,895) (12,226) (45,802) (40,442)
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REMBHRRME

29 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29 fRERESRERMTE @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(D) NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (D) ¥E&%5

The Group entered into the following major non-cash
investing activity which is not reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
issued 58,918,182 new shares at HK$1.1 per share,
amounting to HK$64,810,000, as the consideration
for the acquisition of MSEC.

30 COMMITMENTS
(A) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

From 1 April 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use
assets for these lease, except for low value lease, see Note
2.2 for further information. Prior to that, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

AEETINATYERGRRERE
KRB EFBFRASRERE:

() MREZ=2020F3A318ItF
B AEEKRERKRABITE
1758,918,182 k¥ & 10 - & 58
7%64,810,0007% 7t ' {E = W I8
MSECZ R (& -

30 AEE
(A) REFHFERIE

B2019F4 A1 AEBEE %S
HERRERAEEE HEEBEER
HN - HE— BB RFELEM 2.2 o LA -
REERBETAIHBELEHEMER
T 51 EA PR B BARF 2 A A R R R &
NHRBRELT :

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT

As lessees EREABEA
Within one year —FR - 28,274
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRF (BREEEME) - 18,537
- 46,811

In addition, the operating lease rentals for certain
restaurants are based on the higher of a fixed rental and
contingent rent based on the sales of these restaurants
pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the
respective rental agreements. As the future sales generated
by these restaurants could not be reliably determined, the
relevant contingent rent has not been included above and
only the minimum lease commitments have been included
in the above table.

AN ETERNEEHER S TIRE
18 B8 B 195 5 P B AR S R IR A IR B
HeEhZZEERHEETENIA
HEeEMmEFNRSETE - AREAA
SEETRSTERRAKRELENHER
B EXREBRREBEEAEML Eat
NAEERAEE -
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REMBRRME

30 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(A) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Continued)

30 &I (@)
(A) REBEAE @)

R202053 8318 » AN BRG] H
AEAKZMERE HBET2HENK
A8 F1,629,00078 I °

At 31 March 2020, the Group was committed to enter into
a lease of 2 years that is not yet commenced, the lease
payments under which amounted to HK$1,629,000 per

annum.

31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 31 wEHESER T A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REBRERR SHEEMIACEEAR
instrument as at the end of each reporting period are as follows: N

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHEx T
Assets included in the consolidated FTABRE M BIRAK CEE
statement of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost: BRI ECSREE
— Loan to an associate —m—EERRER 15,000 =
- Trade receivables — B ZRWFIA 46,896 639
— Deposits and other receivables —iZ & & E b e W FRIE 20,673 19,308
— Financial assets at amortised cost —RBHEKAGTECEREE 15,055 35,476
— Cash and cash equivalents —Be KBS EEY 28,481 48,161
Total wEEt 126,105 103,584
Liabilities included in the consolidated FAREMBRRARZAE
statement of financial position
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHEXAGTEZERAE:
— Trade payables — B ZEF5E 14,406 3,514
— Other payables and accruals —H b E 5RIB R FEET B 15,009 6,486
— Bank borrowing —RITEE 10,895 =
— Other borrowing —HEiEE 12,226 -
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 45,802 =
Total HRET 98,338 10,000

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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REMBHRRME

32 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 32 ARRABPMBEMRRAER M FEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(A) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF (A) A28 MR R

THE COMPANY

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
ASSETS BE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Right-of-use asset EREEE 493 =
Amount due from a subsidiary JiE U — fE1 B 8 A &) 538 - 20,000
Prepayments for business acquisition W 2 BN FIE - 2,788
493 22,788
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments TEfT K IE 903 236
Financial assets at amortised cost LKAt 2=z e MEE 15,055 35,476
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UK Ff /B8 R B3k IR 118,259 834
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 18,238 35,971
152,455 72,517
Total assets BEE 152,948 95,305

RERIRHERAR QA
20204 F 3R
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REMBRRME

32 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(A) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

32 AAFPBRAERGBEE

(%)

(A) AT HBARRE (#)

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREaE
Equity attributable to shareholders  Z< 2 Tl IR R FE/GAE 25
of the Company
Share capital N 2,147 2,000
Reserves {1 117,723 61,326
Total equity RS 119,870 63,326
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals E A FE T R IE R EET B A 2,800 2,200
Lease liabilities HEABE 499 =
Amount due to a subsidiary &S — REI BT B A &l 738 29,779 29,779
Total liabilities HWEE 33,078 31,979
Total equity and liabilities HWEZREE 152,948 95,305

(B) RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(B) RXARIHEEE

Share Accumulated

premium Losses Total

R4 & E L p @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET

At 1 April 2019 20194 A1H 87,970 (18,397) 69,573
Loss and total comprehensive FNBBELEZABERE

loss for the year - (8,247) (8,247)

At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 87,970 (26,644) 61,326
Loss and total comprehensive FANBBELZABERE

loss for the year - (8,266) (8,266)

Issuance of new shares BATHIR 64,663 = 64,663

As 31 March 2020 A202043 A31H 152,633 (34,910) 117,723

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hEMBHHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the

AEEBEDAVRFENFEENNEE #Ea

Group for the last five financial years is as follows: REBEHSENT:
g
RESULTS E 3
Year ended 31 March
HESAALEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 20195 20185 20175 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THT TEL FHL T
Revenue Wz 1,009,496 171,233 193,532 189,830 200,915
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETE AN (B51B) /& (20,542) (38,440) (1,749) (6,146) 28,743
Income tax (expense)/credit Fif5% (%) /E& (428) (4,496) 248 (1,782) (4,838)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR) /&7 (20,970) (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905
Exchange differences on translation of foreign MEBIEBEFNERESR
operation (544) - = = -
(Loss}/profit and total comprehensive (loss)/income 7/ (&18) /& H &
for the year 20 (BR) h=gE (21,514) (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905
Loss attributable to: WTATERESR:
Shareholders of the Company ARRIRE (20,937) (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905
Non-controlling interests R (33) = = - =
(20,970) (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: NTATEGZEERAR:
Shareholders of the Company ARRIRE (21,481) (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905
Non-controlling interests R R (33) = = - =
(21,514) (42,936) (1,501) (7,928) 23,905

RERIRHERAR QA
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hEMBHRE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

BENMAE

As at 31 March

R3A3MA
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20205 20195 20185 20175 201645
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THEL FET THT
Assets EE

Non-current assets ERBEE 136,044 27,678 48,175 38,709 25,727
Current assets MEEE 106,173 97,268 110,739 123,399 52,420
Total assets BEE 242,217 124,946 158,914 162,108 78,147

Equity and liabilities ExRAE
Total equity s 135,303 92,007 134,943 136,444 54,402
135,303 92,007 134,943 136,444 54,402
Non-current liabilties FrREaE 23,546 3,893 5,962 3,414 2,218
Current liabilities mBAE 83,368 29,046 18,009 22,250 21,527
Total ligbilities BEE 106,914 32,939 23,971 25,664 23,745
Total equity and liabilities BEXRERE 242,217 124,946 158,914 162,108 78,147

Note: The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31
March 2016 and 2017 and of the assets, equity and liabilities as at 31 March

2016 and 2017 are extracted from the Prospectus.

The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31
March 2018, 2019 and 2020 and of the assets, equity and liabilities as at 31
March 2018, 2019 and 2020 are extracted from the Company’s published

audited financial statement.

Minshang Creative Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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AEBEE20165 K2017463A31 B ILEENGE %
B AR A20164F 201743 31BN EE - Z L E
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ANEEH E20184F 20194 K2020F3 A1 H IEFE
B4R & 48 LA K 20184F + 20194 & 20204F3 A31H
MEE #aRABEMENREEARARE TIRER
AU






	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Five-Year Financial Summary
	Back Cover



